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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to present to shareholders the
audited results of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2008.

| am taking this opportunity to express our gratitude to the Group’s staff for
their contributions enabling the Group to work through a tough business

environment and securing the business growth for the preceding year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s turnover and gross profit kept
increasing in the past 6 years. Turnover
was reported as HK$1,911 million (2007:
HK$1,737.4 million) for the year ended 31
March 2008, which indicates an increase
of 10% from last financial year. Gross
profit increased by 8.7% to HK$189.9
million (2007: HK$174.6 million)
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amortization and depreciation (EBITDA)
are HK$39.5 million (2007: HK$38.3
million).

- The operating profit (EBIT) of the Group is HK$24.5 million (2007:
HK$22.4 million).

- Because of the recent accounting practice, the Group recorded HK$6.3
million, an unrealized fair value loss in relation to mark-to-market
derivative on the US$ exchange rate contract which significantly affects
the consolidated net profit after taxation and minority interests of the
Group be dropped to HK$6.9 million (2007: HK$11 million), representing
a decrease of 37.3% from last year.

- The basic earnings per share is HK2.30 cents (2007: HK4.00 cents).

The Board of Directors has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO0.25 cent per ordinary share payable to shareholders whose names appear
on the Register of Members of the Company on 28 August, 2008. Subject to
the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the
dividend will be payable on 10 September, 2008. During the year, the Group
announced an interim dividend of HK1 cent per ordinary share.
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The major reasons for the decrease in consolidated net profit of the reported

year are as follows:

1)

1A 2015 5
MP4 Digital Media Player

3)

In order to minimize the impact of the fluctuation of foreign exchange
rate in accounts payable and accounts receivable, the Group has
engaged in forward foreign currency contracts to set-off this business
risk. Although the management has big confidence to project that these
contracts will bring in positive result to the Group, the Group must
evaluate the value of these contracts to follow the recent accounting
principles. Among different valuation theoretical approaches, the
management has adopted a conservative one which results in booking
a HK$6.3 million projected, unrealized fair
value loss of the mark-to-market derivative.
However, the management has strong
confident that the effect will be mitigated at
the time when the contracts mature.

2) In the reported year, the Group still
subsidized the setting up and test
run of the new production site in
Heyuan. As the production in the
new factory has already become
matured, the subsidies will become

less significant in the coming fiscal

ZE B year.

The Group has small investment in some associate companies with
relative substantial share percentages. The share of losses in these
associate companies also contributed to certain losses of the Group.
The management will seek for disposal of the shareholdings in these

companies in order to minimize losses.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

At 31 March 2008, the Group’s net current assets amounted to HK$189.1
million (2007: HK$192.5 million) and the shareholders’ funds were HK$387.8

million (2007: HK$370.2 million). The total bank loan and finance lease was

HK$218.9 million and the gearing ratio which is defined as total borrowings to

shareholders’ funds, excluding minority interests, is 0.56. The year-end cash

and bank balances were increased from HK$93.4 million to HK$103.4 million.
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Latest SMT PCB Assembly Facilities

At 31 March 2008, total available banking facilities of the Group were
approximately HK$283 million, of which HK$44 million was unutilised. Finance
lease obligations outstanding on the same date amounted to HK$2.5 million.
The Company issued corporate guarantees to banks for granting of banking
facilities to wholly owned subsidiaries. At 31 March 2008, total amount of

corporate guarantee committed was HK$356.6 million.

The Group’s assets are mostly financed by shareholders’ funds, trade payables,
finance lease and bank borrowings. Trade payables are repayable within one
year. Bank borrowings composed of trade financing repayable within one year
and term loans repayable in installments from
3 to 4 years. Total bank borrowings have
increased due to the growth in business,
personal computer products and new capital

expenditures.

The borrowings are mostly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars to prevent currency risk.
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
US dollars, Canadian dollars and Renminbi.
The Group has engaged in foreign currency
forward contracts with banks to hedge certain
daily foreign currency trade payments to control the conversion risk arising
from foreign currency transactions. Other than forward contract, the Group
continuously matches the payments and receipts of foreign currency arising
from routine purchases and sales. Combining these methods, the Group is
able to control and minimize the financial cost and exchange risk. Most of the
Group’s borrowings are interest bearing at floating rates which are in reference
to the Hong Kong HIBOR rate.

With the increase in turnover in the reported year, inventory level was relatively
decreased to HK$238.6 million from HK$256.8 million of last financial year.
Average stock turnover is controlled to less than 60 stock turnover days. The
trade receivables and payables also increased in proportion with the increase

in turnover.

In the reported year, the Group issued 26,274,436 new ordinary shares due
to the exercise of warrants. The exercise price was HK$0.4 and HK$0.5 per
share. The Group also repurchased 184,000 ordinary shares in the open

market. The purchase prices ranged from HK$0.59 to HK$0.64 per share.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

Although the consolidated net profit after minority interests was smaller than
that of last year, the year ended 31 March 2008 was a remarkable year in the

Group’s core business. Despite the relative dropping of turnover in consumer

electronics, the consolidated turnover of the Group was increased by 10% to
HK$1,911 million (2007: HK$1,737 million); and the gross profit of the Group
was increased by 8.7% to HK$189.9 million (2007: HK$174.6 million) when
compare to last fiscal year.

The Group is engaged in three major

core businesses, namely:

— Electronic Components —

Distribution and Manufacturing

— Digital and Personal Computer
Products — Distribution and

Manufacturing

Contract Electronic Manufacturing
Service (EMS) and Consumer

Electronics

Electronic Components — Distribution and Manufacturing

In the reported year, the Group successfully entered into the market of
mobile phone in promoting MCP (Masked Central Processor), discrete IC
and components as well as ultra thin loud speakers which was produced in
the Group. Together with electronic components from the team, turnover of
this segment was grown significantly to HK$800.6 million (2007: HK$661.5
million) representing a growth of 21% when compared with last fiscal year. The
gross profit also recorded a 34.4% growth to HK$82.5 million (2007: HK$65.4

million).

Business in this segment is to act as authorized distributor of various renowned
brand names including the Group’s own manufactured electronic components
to manufacturers in Hong Kong and China. Products of this segment includes
power modules, MCU, CPU,

memory chips and display modules etc. Applications of these components are

diodes, transistors, integrated circuits (IC),
electronic toys, power supplies, radio, CD players, DVD players, TV, MP3/MP4
and amplifiers. In the more advanced level, this segment also provides solutions
for controller of air-conditioner, MP3, electronic bicycle, iPod dockings as well

as power management modules etc.

5 EMBEERARLQA
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) ] Walkie-Talkie PCBs, a new market sector being develop for
Semiconductor) * Lite- the consumer electronics manufacturing business
on * [ 5 12 4 #f (Arnold

The Group has more than 25 years of experience in this segment. Other
than the solid base in Hong Kong, the Group is one of the very few existing
distributors who were pioneer to penetrate in the China market. After more
than 20 years of establishment in China, the Group has built up strong sales
network and logistic foundation in major China cities by the joint management
between Hong Kong and local Chinese elites. The
performance of Shenzhen and Shanghai sales
office were outstanding among competitors. In
order to explore further business opportunities,
the Group had further strengthened the
engineering capability in providing total solutions
to customers.

The Group kept gaining new distributorship from
In the
reported year, the Group had successfully gained

renown electronic components suppliers.

new authorized distributorships from Freescale,
Rohm and Silicon Laboratory. Together with
existing distributorship of Toshiba, Panasonic,
On-semiconductor, Lite-on, Arnold Magnetic,
Chino-Excel Technology Corp (CET), Elan
Microelectronics Corp (ELAN) and MCS Logic Ltd
(MCS Logic), Kyocera, Diodes, the Group could
further strengthen its status as one of the leading authorized distributors for
electronic components and semi-conductors in Hong Kong and the PRC.

Digital and Personal Computer Products — Distribution and Manufacturing

Turnover of the digital and personal computer products business grew to
HK$481.3 million (2007: HK$400.1 million) which represented a growth of
20.3% in the reported year. Gross profit also grew by 19.4% to HK$43 million
(2007: HK $36 million).

Business in this segment mainly comes from the distribution of personal
computer products in North America. Products in this segment are
motherboards, display cards, hard disk drives, optical storage device,
computer cases, power supply, software memory modules, desk-top computer,
notebook computers, and with business came from the manufacturing of MP3,
MP4, digital picture frames and USB memory drives.

With head office in Toronto and branches in Vancouver, Halifax, and Calgary,
Daiwa Canada had gained substantial market share of hard disk drives,
display monitors and motherboards. The Group is well prepared to enter into
the market of bulk distribution of note book computers and expecting to gain
meaningful market share in the coming years.
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EMS And Consumer Electronics

EMS (Contract Electronic Manufacturing Service)

In this business segment, turnover was significantly increased by 18.9% to
HK$508.8 million when compared with last fiscal year (2007: HK$427.9 million),
however due to the increase of cost in material, the gross profit decreased by
8.3% to HK$59.7 million (2007: HK$65.1 million) when compared with last year.
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In the reporting year, a new production floor
equipped with clean rooms was added.
The team was also equipped with new fast
speed SMD production lines with nitrogen
filled furnaces, precise screen solder paste
application printer and X-ray failure analysis
checker. Other than the further enhancement
of the quality of products, the capacity of this
sector was increased by more than 50%.

The Group also engages in the production of
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telecommunication modules in mobile phone

UTEiPod R iPhone A #5241
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iPod/iPhone Docking Clock Radio

base stations, active antennas, radar parts,
electronic modules in automobiles as well as
PCB assembly for industrial purpose product

etc.

With the increase of investment in engineering and technological innovation,
the Group starts to explore the possibility of co-development of new products
with customers. The Group expects that this direction of EMS production will

bring the Group to be distinct among competitors.

Consumer Electronics

In the reported year, prices of raw material, such as plastic and metal,
increased in a quicker rate in comparison to the increase in selling prices.
In order to eliminate this risk, the Group had to selectively accept customer
orders to maintain reasonable prices. As a result of this policy, turnover of the
OEM and ODM manufacturing of consumer electronics in the reporting year
was HK$120.2 million (2007: 247.2 million) which represents a decrease of
51.4% but gross profit was increased by 21.83% to HK$9.7 million (2007: HK$8

million).

7 aRNEmEERAER QA
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When most of the other competitors are suffering from the high operation cost
in Dongguan and Shenzhen area, the Group has relocated its labor intensive
production floor to Heyuan, an area of much lower operation cost. In the
establishment period of this new factory, the Group has maintained two parallel
production and management teams in both old and the new production site
which generates a temporary negative contribution to the Group. However,
since Nov 2007, all the concerned resources have already been consolidated
in the new factory and the negative contribution of this segment will become

insignificant in the coming fiscal year.

Products in this segment was mostly portable audio and video products for
households such as iPod dockings, radio, loud speakers, boom-box (portable
CD), cassette player, mini compo Hi-Fi, clock radio and electronic toys. To
prepare for the upcoming of new buyers, the Group has developed new models

and solutions in the reported year.

The Group also started to launch products in 1.8G, 2.4G and 5.8G cordless
DECT phones, Walkie Talkie and other applications in telecommunication. In
the reported year, software design and new tooling for the kick-off models
were finished. The Group expects that this new product line can be launched
to the market in the coming year. The group will also develop mid-price level

new products in DAB radio and internet radio by using the Wi-Fi technology.

To further enhance the capability in consumer electronics, the Group had
established successfully a tooling and mould division to fabricate tooling and
moulds for various internal product which the Group outsourcing in previous
years. The setting up of 20+ plastic injection machines with silk screening
printing and clean room paint spray workshop can further upgrade the Group

in a better position with good competitive edge.
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FUTURE PROSPECT

After the implementation of new labor contract law in China since Jan 2008,
most China based factories suffered from the substantial increase in labor cost
and a substantial number of competitors has already or will be forced out from
the industry. By the setting up of the Group’s new factory in Heyuan, labor
cost as well as other operation cost of the factory was considerably reduced
which enable the Group to stand firm in the event. In the beginning of 2008,
new customers have already started approaching the Group to replace their
old suppliers who has quitted from the market. The management is confident
that this event provides a good opportunity for the Group to select more higher
quality customers. At the same time, the successful setting up of plastic and
tooling shop can further play a significant role in vertical production and cost

saving.

In the EMS segment, the capacity of
equipment is almost fully employed.
The Group will procure new SMD
devices to further increase capacity of
this segment. Products for the DECT
cordless phone will be launched by
the middle of this fiscal year which
will bring the Group to a new era of
manufacturing.

At the same time, the successful
development of EMS business in
“Combiner Modules” has already been
approved by renown mobile phone
manufacturer. Result in this new
product will be a good add on to the

business in this sector.

In the distribution segment of electronic components, the new distributorships
gained in last 2 years are good players in the semiconductor market. The
Group has already gained good knowledge in the distribution of these new
products and will bring in meaningful contribution in the coming fiscal year.

In order to further penetrate the distribution business in the China market, the
Group will also establish new sales office in Chengdu. On the other hand, for
the further synergy effect of the distribution business, the Group is looking for
opportunities to acquire proper operations in the industry.

As a summary, the management believes that the coming year will be a fruitful
year for the Group.

9 AN EERER A A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



it
By
oft

President’s Statement

BT

RIZBZNF=ZA=+—H FEEHESTHRTE
BE  EFFERNERDHE-—B-_TRERNTEIE
8 ESAHHAEBEASLEESMZ RS

=
=

SEZHFMBRTIRETSBE RIRERNE TTIERR
i“‘ﬁﬁﬁ?i EBBZHFMERIARES AR
ZEAEEEEMET  —REERFRI AZHF

Z%?E%I C BESTEHRZBNEEARRFE - SET

RtEEERNEERERENE TMETERE °$E'<

BARRR -_ZZRFN\A+N\BRKZ BTSSR
BERRAFS - SRR TEBEREATNESERTAE

BT R

EECEZTN\F=A=+—H £EIXE

SEBRNEZERNREESERERNBRINIRIE
Al BRTREBLEEEIN  EEBERBEEEENIE
B2 1 1SO9000 + TS16949 F Six-Sigma &
BEEBRR7EERE  USEJRBRTERMESS
¥BR > TRBSATRALREZEERBES -

ANMBEEREBERRQA 10

Daiwa Associate Ho\dmgs Limited

EMPLOYEES

At 31 March 2008, the Group employed a total of approximately 6,000
employees of which 120 were Hong Kong based and 80 were Canada based.

Most of the others were PRC employees in different production sites.

The Group’s remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices
and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of the individual.
Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in accordance
with the achievement of their sales target. General staff are offered year-end
discretionary bonuses, which are based on the divisional performance and
individual appraisals. The Group also provides a Mandatory Provident Fund or
ORSO scheme and medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees. Pursuant to
the terms and conditions of the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 18 August 2005, the Group may grant share options to directors and eligible

employees. Up to 31 March 2008, no share options had been granted.

The Group is committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and
external training to the employees. In addition to sending staff to participate
in seminars and lectures, the Group continues to recommend qualified staff
to take part in professional courses such as the ISO9000, TS16949 and Six-
Sigma Quality Systems. The training programs not only enhance employees’
career development and professional knowledge, but also contribute to up-

grading the management system of the Group.



BB E Financial Summary

HEFEHBERE FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

UTNEREEBETRFEZGAEE  CENAG - The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of

the Group for the last five years.

—ZFEN Tt —TERX —TTH —TEN
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
FET FAT FAT FAT FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
=F 2 Turnover 1,911,025 1,737,449 1,540,139 1,225,840 841,606
Profit attributable to

IR R FEIG 2T
shareholders 6,891 10,994 12,648 20,575 15,330
EEEE Total assets 810,902 773,513 685,250 607,630 474,851
BEBTE Total liabilities 422,258 402,077 325,833 258,282 192,707
BEFE Net assets 388,644 371,436 359,417 349,348 282,144
[ Share capital 30,423 27,814 27,218 26,596 15,881
i Reserves 357,340 342,435 330,953 322,125 265,587
& R Shareholders equity 387,763 370,249 358,171 348,721 281,468
DR TERERS Minority interests 881 1,187 1,246 627 676
T A RE Total equity 388,644 371,436 359,417 349,348 282,144

11 aRNEmEERAER QA
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (continued)



VMBHE Financial Summary

—EEN\FERFEERE S CEXR
TURNOVER BY PRINCIPAL BUSINESS FOR 2008

BFIras FRE R AL
Manufacturing and 18] A BB 1 B RS E
distribution of electronic R H R BdE
components (42%) Manufacturing and

— ] distribution of personal

computer and digital
products (25%)
—EE N\ FERMWES S 2 EEE
TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT FOR 2008

EHETFTEEEERBR
B HEEM

Contract electronic
manufacturing service and
consumer electronics (33%)

H b gm MBI

B Other Asian countries
Japan (17%) (1%)
B
R Europe (9%)
B R P B A RE
Hong Kong and N
. i 0 SISl
Mainland China (42%) North America
(81%)
BER
Turnover
=ZEEN —EE+
2008 2007
FHExT T
HK$°000 HK$’000
ESR iR AR S PN K] Manufacturing and distribution of electronic components 800,649 661,475
ARETEELEERBR Contract electronic manufacturing service and
EFHEEM consumer electronics 629,019 675,017
18 A B e 2855 Manufacturing and distribution of personal computer and
Em A H R e digital products 481,357 400,957
1,911,025 1,737,449

13 EMBEERARLQA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



>
HE
IR
oK
e
Df

Corporate Governance Report

AARERE([EFS )R NERFRITZDEEGITE
RIEF  UEREREZE T2 - SHEMEE - #
LIRS RREE -

RARRBE_ZZENF=ZA=+—HIEFE—EKA
LBTEERARZAERARESZ LHMRAT EHH
DK 1485 2 BEERT R TR R D) ZRAY

A BEASTANGEX - E TR ERRI - EEEH
BERIREARARZEEEATRIER - RE

BEBOREHEIBIEAVEE RERETARE -

EEZEERS

RAR BN ETRAME10ME 2 EMBEITAE
BHITEFRGZEEFAERBRAESTETIESRRS
ZITRSFRIMRESFAL]) « MRAAQAFAESIELA
BERE AAFAEFERRERBZ_ZZN\F=A
=t —BIEFERN—EEFRETRIFTE 2 RERLE

E=xg

BEESIINBRRBEEE  LEMIAEEZER
KEITERE - EEG 2T BREMT
) B ET AN (B 2 SRR 1 7 ) IR B R

@  REAREIERE  FHE)

REMAR

©) ERBEEZRE

(@) HOEM B R EE
ZRERKERZ

BE  BEXEFEZE X

EMEEERERAQFA 14

Daiwa Associate Ho\dmgs Limited

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’

value.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 March 2008, save for the deviations discussed below. The Board
will continuously review and improve the corporate governance practices and
standards of the Company to ensure that business activities and decision

making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”).

directors of the Company have confirmed that they have fully complied with the

Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the

required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2008.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention
paid to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The principle
functions of the Board are to:

(1) establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

(2) determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance

objectives of the Group;

(3) monitor management performance;

(4) approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,

key funding and investment proposals;



>
s
i
i 4
T
Iff

Corporate Governance Report

(5) ERMENEEE  BRERE  UBERLT

MR
6) TLEERRERML -
EECHABHNENTESER =B IINITESH
ﬁ\/z o
ZORTMOIGE  FREBEEEF RS
LA KA st $¢l2¥f%kf’F&W*B§bT$/\%°
EEQNRMPAESTAREFIEEEME

b
B
a
<|:H

=

SETR
B SHIESD - 3
=E

WAEER BERXAMANESEEE -

NEFEFEKE
SR

CBEERARBLEEZZHER

HITES
IS L (HEE)
BRI 2 L (FAE L)
FREEL
BEEEE

BYFHTES
BikAEE
BEgUESE
BREFTE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(5) oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls,

risk management, financial reporting and compliance;
(6) assume responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board comprises four executive directors and three independent non-

executive directors.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, and to review the business operation and the internal
control system of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board

meetings are also held to approve major or special issues.
Five Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2008.

Members of the Board, number of Board meetings held and the attendance of

each member during the year are set out as follows:

HESBERY EESERRE
Number of meetings attended/

Members of the Board Number of Board meetings held

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President) 5/5
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-President) 5/5
Mr. WAN Chor Fai 5/5
Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly 5/5

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT 5/5
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 5/5
Mr. LIU Ngai Wing 5/5

15 aRNEmEERAER QA
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received from each independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rule.
The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent.

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company, the Board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. List of directors and their biographical details are set out on

pages 24 to 27.
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same

individual.

Mr. LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the
Company. In the opinion of the Board, the role of the president and the chief
executive officer is the same. The Board considers that the present structure
provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
efficient and effective business planning and execution. Hence, the Board
believes that it is in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company that
Mr. LAU Tak Wan will continue to assume the roles of the Chairman of the
Board and the president of the Company. However, the Company will review

the current structure as and when it becomes appropriate in future.
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the Code provision A.4.1, the non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election and under the Code
provision A.4.2, every director, including those appointed for a specific term,

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Currently, the three independent non-executive directors are not appointed for
a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of
the bye-laws of the Company, and their appointment will be reviewed when

they are due for re-election.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on, among other things, the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of all directors and senior management of the Company and is
delegated by the Board with the responsibility to determine on behalf of the
Board the specific remuneration packages for all Executive directors and senior

management of the Company.

LEEBERE

EEEEERE

No. of Meeting Attended/

Members of Remuneration Committee: No. of Meeting
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing (Chairman) 1/1

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 11

Executive director
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 1

17 aRNEmEERAER QA
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Daiwa Associate Ho\dmgs Limited

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written terms of

reference.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group and providing

advice and recommendations to the Board.

Audit Committee is also authorized to obtain outside legal or other independent
professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant

experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31 March
2008.

Members of the Audit Committee, number of Audit Committee meetings held

and the attendance of each member during the year are set out as follows:

HEERRE

EREREERRE

Number of meetings

attended/Number of

Audit Committee

Members of the Audit Committee meetings held

Members of Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 2/2
Mr. LIU Ngai Wing 2/2

During the year, the Audit Committee has performed the following duties:

(1) reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditors and reviewed
the unaudited interim financial statements, with recommendations to

the Board for approval;

(2) reviewed the change in accounting standards and policies as well as

assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(3) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and discussed the relevant
issues including financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management functions;

(4) reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements;

(5) considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment and
approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of external

auditor;

(6) reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with

applicable standards; and

(7) discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations before the audit commences.
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company did not establish a Nomination Committee. The duties and
functions of the Nomination Committee recommended in the Code are
performed by the Board collectively with no director being involved in fixing
his/her own terms of appointment and no independent non-executive director

being involved in assessing his own independence.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Board also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the

Group.

19 aRNEmEERAER QA
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditors of the
Company, provided the following services to the Group and their respective

fees charged are set out as follows:

WE =~ & F

Type of services Fees charged
FET

HK$’000

Audit fee for the Group 2,380
Taxation services 103
Total 2,483

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the accounts of the Group for the relevant accounting periods
in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the
accounts for the six months ended 30 September 2007 and for the year ended
31 March 2008, the directors have adopted appropriate accounting policies
and applied them consistently. The accounts for the reporting year have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities is set out on

pages 35 to 36 in the annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and is
committed to managing business risks and maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets. The effectiveness of the internal control system was also

discussed on an annual basis with the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

The Group’s internal control system encompasses its policies, processes,

tasks, and other aspects of the Group that taken together:

(1) facilitate its effective and efficient operation by allowing it to respond
appropriately to significant business, operational, financial, compliance
and other risks with a view of achieving business objectives. This
includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or from loss

and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed;

(2) help ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision

of reliable financial information for internal or external reporting; and

(3) help ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations, and

also with internal policies with respect to the conduct of business.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance of no material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s

objectives.
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

The Directors submit their report together with the audited accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the design, development, manufacturing and distribution of
electronic components, electronic manufacturing services and distribution and

manufacturing of personal computer and digital products.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to operating profit by
business segment and geographical segment for the year is set out in note 5 to

the accounts.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 37.

An interim dividend of HK$0.01 per share totalling HK$3,038,000 was declared
on 12 December 2007. The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of
HKO0.25 cent per share totalling HK$761,000 in respect of the year ended 31
March 2008.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2008 are set

out in note 19 to the accounts.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note

17 to the accounts.
SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the company are set out in note 32 to the

accounts.
WARRANTS

Movements in warrants of the company are set out in note 34 to the accounts.
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RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves during

the year are set out in note 35 to the accounts.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2008, the reserves of the company available for distribution
amounted to HK$83,801,000 (2007: HK$91,366,000),
surplus of HK$72,309,000 (2007: HK$72,309,000).

including contributed

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$580,000 (2007: HK$167,000)
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws
and there was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
each of the five years ended 31 March 2008 is set out on pages 11 to 12.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2008, sales to the five largest customers of the
Group in total accounted for approximately 15.9% of the Group’s total turnover,
with the largest customer accounting for about 8.0%. The five largest suppliers
of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 34.2% by value of
the Group’s total purchases during the year, with the largest supplier accounted
for about 20.3%.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital)

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President)

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-president)
Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky and Mr. WAN Chor Fai retire by
rotation in accordance with clause 99 of the Company’s bye-laws and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s bye-

laws.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, aged 58, is the founder and the President of the Group. Mr.
Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as Hong Kong
Baptist University) in Sociology and has more than 20 years’ management
and production experience in the electronics industry. Prior to founding the
Group, Mr. Lau had over 6 years’ experience in running his own business in
the electronics industry. He is responsible for the overall corporate planning,

strategic development and marketing of the Group.

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky, aged 51, is the spouse of Mr. LAU Tak Wan.
Ms. Chan is the Vice-president of the Group. Also she is the Director of
Administration and Finance responsible for administration, human resources
and finance of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 1998, Ms. Chan has
over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial management and at the

same time running her own business for more than 10 years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. WAN Chor Fai, aged 50,

Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong

is the CEO (Manufacturing) of the Group. Mr.

Kong Polytechnic University) in Production and Industrial Engineering and is
responsible for the business development and manufacturing management
of the Group. He has more than 19 years’ experience in manufacturing and
marketing. Prior to joining the Group in 1987, he worked for an international

conglomerate and was in charge of the electronics division.

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, is the CEO (Distribution) of the Group
responsible for the Group’s overall marketing strategy and the distribution of

Stanly, aged 46,

electronic components. Mr. Mak joined the Group in 1988. He has more than

20 years’ experience in the sales and marketing of electronic components.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT, aged 63, has been appointed as the Executive
Director — Finance of Mission Hills Group (“MHG”) and an Executive Director
of Hsin Chong Construction Group Ltd (“HCCG”) in February 2008. Prior
to joining MHG, he was the managing director of Hsin Chong International
Holdings Limited (“HCIH”), which has significant shareholdings in a property
construction company HCCG (which was acquired by MHG in November 2007),
and a property management service company, Synergis Holdings Limited. Mr.
Buttifant was also an alternate director for both of these public companies.
Before joining HCIH, Mr. Buttifant was an Operating Partner of Barings Private
Equity Partners Asia Limited. He was also the Managing Director of Wo Kee
Hong (Holdings) Limited (“Wo Kee Hong”) from 2001 to 2002 and was the
Adviser to the board of directors of Wo Kee Hong from 2002 to 2004. He was
the Managing Director of IDT International Limited for over 8 years and had
worked for Sime Darby Hong Kong Limited and Polly Peck Group for more than
11 years in the capacity of Finance Director and Managing Director during the
period. He is also an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong public
companies: Giordano International Limited, and Alltronics Holdings Limited,
and two NYSE public companies: Global-Tech Appliances Inc and China

Nepstar Chain Drugstore Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Mr. Buttifant is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Chartered Management Institute; the Hong Kong Management Association
and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He became an independent non-

executive director of the Company in 1994.

Mr. LIU Ngai Wing, aged 57, holds a Master of Science Degree in Global
Business from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
Degree in Hotel and Tourism Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Master Degree in Business Administration from the Open
University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Liu is an independent non-executive director of New Smart Energy Holdings
Limited and Hang Fung Gold Technology Ltd. He is an associate member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, and is also a fellow member of

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan, aged 55, was awarded Bachelor of Laws Degree (LLB) by
University of London in 1988 and Post-graduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) by
University of Hong Kong in 1991.
Choi & Co., Solicitors from 2003 to 2005 but transferred to Messrs. Ong &

Chung Co., Solicitors, as an associate providing professional legal services for

Mr Choi was the Principal of Messrs. Y.F.

customers of Hong Kong and foreign countries.

Mr. Choi was admitted as a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1993
and a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales in 1994. Before
Mr. Choi took up his legal career in 1993, he had served in the Home Affairs
Department for about 13 years (1977-1990).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior management

Mr. HO Chui Sing, aged 36, is the Qualified Accountant of the Group and
joined the Group in 2003. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and had over 9 years’ accounting, finance and

auditing experience.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company and these service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated

by either party for not less than three or six months’ prior written notice.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the directors’ service contracts noted above and the connected
transactions noted as below, no other contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.
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(a) REAREREEOIOETZRAFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 March 2008, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company, or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
(a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

BRITEER /IR
FEERD < 8A
Number of issued ordinary shares/
underlying shares attached to derivatives

FEmARER BRATEER

Unlisted Warrants Ordinary shares in issued

EEER AR EEER A ay
EES Corporate Vi3 Personal his# Corporate M Other Total ERL
Name of directors interests Notes interests Notes interests Notes interests interests  Percentage
HEeRE
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 7,862,388 2 6,537,141 1 147,706,499 28384 1,142,854 155,386,494 51.08%
Rt
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky 7,862,388 2 4,022,854 1 147,706,499 26384 3,657,141 155,386,494 51.08%
FHRBRE
Mr. WAN Chor Fai - 50,000 - - 50,000 0.016%
AL
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT - 500,000 - - 500,000 0.16%
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BEERERSTHRAERADQTAREM
EHRBEBE KRG - HBERG R EE
BZEERRE®

(a) RAEQATEREEO010BTZRDEFA(E)

Mt -

BlRERREZL(BIEEZRB)BEERAR
AR 2,880,000 f °

China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd
([ China Capital |) Bz B 42 7] 7,862,388
R E R B (574,431,436 % ° China
Capital Z A5 2N T B BITIRA B 25t £ %
B BRTAEIZETEEITRAHRZ L
ﬁ °

Leading Trade Ltd ([ Leading Trade]) & x5 #
AR ERD 60,918,396 B © Leading Trade
BOZETERTRAHBILEEESE 4T
BAZAETEBEITRABRLLES -

Cyber Concept Limited ([ Cyber Concept])
Em A AN R D 12,356,667 % ° Cyber
Concept B D 2 A+ EBITIRAR RIS LM
B BTEASZATERITRARMRLLHE
5o

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(a)

Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

(continued)

Notes:

1.

2,880,000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Lau and Ms.
Chan (the spouse of Mr. Lau).

7,862,388 warrants and 74,431,436 shares in the Company were
beneficially owned by China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd (“China
Capital”). The issued share capital of China Capital is 60% owned by Mr.
Lau, and 40% owned by Ms. Chan.

60,918,396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading
Trade Ltd (“Leading Trade”). The issue share capital of Leading Trade is
50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.

12,356,667 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Cyber
Concept Limited (“Cyber Concept”). The issued share Capital of Cyber
Concept is 50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.
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(b) RAEAREFHBEEE 2R H

BEEN

Dominion International Limited F1 215

PR TS WA TS 2 A

Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited

Westpac Digital Limited

EREFRRR

Vastpoint Industrial Limited

BN EERAT

Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited

m%'%ﬁiﬁﬁﬁi/ IERHEESR
TEBRABCERERELER 1n14o,oooﬁx
510,000 A% °

BEREEN RZTBENF=ZA=+—R K27
ZEFABRPDITRAERBEZHEATHER AT
Tﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁywi@(;ﬁ%i B MHIERGIEXVE) 2
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BZREELRR)  RARERIBIRE %‘ﬁ&gﬁa Iﬂﬁ']%
352 GFTRE AR T%TZ%E::EH%Z*E 2
$E}th%ﬁﬁw2ﬁm“7%$ ﬁ.:’i%ﬁ&%ﬂ’ﬂs‘—’iﬁg Bl
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(b) Shares of associated corporations of the company

Dominion International Limited, which is 50% owned by Mr. Lau, and
50% owned by Ms. Chan:

FEZERERETROEE
Number of non-voting

deferred shares held

50,000

455,000

1,600,000

In addition, each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000
and 10,000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec

Precision Industrial Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008, none of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange.
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BEXS

RZBEXRFRA—H

Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc.

AREEE G —EMHERQF
BSR4 KSR

Bt HEER 2 RS —H ISR ERET L —IAHE
E‘Iﬁ?]uﬁ% E’Hﬁm—v 7/\£'E/\ﬂ EI }’;@__qzﬁﬂ

=+—H - HER 2 A% 15,332.64 7T ©

BELETRE - PR SEKEERS - EERE ' £
Mz 5 &E%ﬁ%l#&ﬁ@?%%%#ﬂiﬁmﬁ%
Bms  YAQARBREQAFMARE -

BIE EMHRR - FPAEEEERZBREREBER
5 o
B EXFTESN - REER - ARFHEMERFIGE

2TEMRS  DREFEBBAZXZMER AR Z(E
F ETRAND ETRB DB SE /AR DRATIREN

BREES

RZZEZAFENATNR  ARBRETLETRAUE
17 B2 RERMFERE B (AR - ARRA
TERzEBBREAS((EHE)) BE_TTNF=
A=+— B AR R AR SRR 5T 815 0 BB A R AR 3%
BB H MR B RTTE 2 BB ACHE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or

existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A subsidiary of the Group, Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc., had entered into a
rental agreement in respect of office space in Canada on 1 June 2006 with a
company jointly owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky for
the period from 1 June 2006 to 31 May 2011. Monthly rental paid for the office
premises is CAN$15,332.64.

The above constituted a connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
The Directors are of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into
on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length basis and is fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company, taken as a whole, are

concerned.

The above connected transaction constituted an exempted connected

transaction under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had entered
into any connected transactions discloseable by the Company under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme”) in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which
replaced the old share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) in force previously.
The Company has not granted any options under the New Scheme and no

share options were outstanding as at 31 March 2008.
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Leading Trade Limited

China Capital Holdings Investment Limited
FEEEEERA

South China Holdings Limited

Bat -

1. Leading Trade Limited Z 50% & # /4 2115 18 % £ AT
HHRS0%EmBREB LTS - Bt - BIE
BEH M EE K] - Leading Trade Limited * 2124 &
BR % 4 ¥ 4 47 & % 560,918,396 © 163,248,882 I
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2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited 2 60%
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ﬁﬂ?&ﬁ Et - RIEEH MHEES - China Capital
Holdings Investment Limited + 21764 K BR 22+ 5 Bl
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2008, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
parties (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company), had an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which are required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provision of Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any

other member of the Group.

Interests in the shares of the Company

HERRGER —
EEMARER HERITRG
EERAEE Interest in HWHEEDL
st Number of underlying shares — % of the total
Note shares held unlisted warrants issued shares
60,918,396 — 20.02%
2 74,431,436 7,862,388 27.05%
36,502,198 — 12.00%

Notes:

1. Leading Trade Limited is 50% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and 50% owned by

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, Leading Trade Limited, Mr. Lau and
Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to be interested in 60,918,396, 163,248,882 and
163,248,882 shares of the Company.

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited is 60% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan
and 40% owned by Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, China Capital
Holdings Investment Limited, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to be
interested in 74,431,436, 163,248,882 and 163,248,882 shares of the Company
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company
and recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under
Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2008.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public

float throughout the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 21.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive

directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Audit Committee provides an important link between
the Board and the company’s auditors in matters coming within the scope
of the group audit. It also reviews the effectiveness of both the internal audit
and of internal controls and risk evaluation. The Committee comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT, Mr.
CHOI Yuk Fan and Mr. LIU Ngai Wing. Two meetings were held during the

current financial year.
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BE - HEFWEALQF Zz EmES

RAFER  ARRNBRMERZMERRBBEA

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company purchased a total of

184,000 AR B FREEC10EB T Z MM - %425 184,000 shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company on The Stock Exchange
BB 2 Elatis - BERD 2 FBmT of Hong Kong Limited, all of these shares were cancelled. Particulars of the
shares repurchased are as follows:
BRBROKRXE Wz (B
Price per share RE5EBRMAX)
BERAEE R EE I BRIRE Total cost
XB AR FH Number of shares Highest Lowest (including
Trading Month/Year repurchased price paid price paid expenses)
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
—TTLFHhHA
May 2007 150,000 0.640 0.596 92,500
—ZELERA
June 2007 34,000 0.640 0.590 21,760
184,000 114,260

BB - ARRXEEAMBRARAREE_TE
NE=ZA=+—"RALHNEAREREE  HEXBERER
AABzZ EHES -

B ED

AEERABEAEIBGBE R EBHAMER -
HEMEMER - TAENE - BEEEE-

A%
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold and redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during

the year ended 31 March 2008.

AUDITOR

The accounts have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and,

being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
On behalf of the Board
LAU Tak Wan

President

Hong Kong, 30 July 2008
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLERS OF DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
set out on pages 37 to 121, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true
and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and
the true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and
of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 July 2008
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Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

Operating profit

Finance costs — net

Share of loss of an associated company

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interests

Dividends

Earnings per share for profit attributable
to equity holders of the Company

— Basic

— Diluted

i3
Note

10

13

14

15

15

For the year ended 31 March 2008

=EEN —E2t
2008 2007
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$°000
1,911,025 1,737,449
(1,721,155) (1,562,893)
189,870 174,556
778 881
(31,488) (29,678)
(134,673) (123,351)
24,487 22,408
(8,459) (7,080)
(2,519) —
13,509 15,328
(5,925) (6,011)
7,584 9,317
6,891 10,994
693 (1,677)
7,584 9,317
4,184 6,959
HK2.30 cents &l HK4.00 cents L
HK2.26 cents &1l HK3.99 cents 7l
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38

Non-current assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold land and land use rights
Interest in a jointly controlled entity
Interest in an associated company
Deferred income tax assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and notes receivables
Amount due from an associated company
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Derivative financial instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Minority interests
Total equity
Non-current liabilities

Borrowings
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Taxation payable
Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

LAU Tak Wan
President

HiiF
Note

16
17
18
20
21
31
22

23
24
38

25
30
26

32
35

27
31

27
28
28

30

As at 31 March 2008

=ZEEN e
2008 2\00_7
FET FEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
28,199 25,079
194,544 178,153
25,208 25,376

1 1

1,386 701
319 4,340

710 710
250,367 234,360
238,574 256,753
185,589 177,168
17,637 —
15,347 11,456
= 344
103,388 93,432
560,535 539,153
810,902 18918
30,423 27,814
357,340 342,435
387,763 370,249
881 1,187
388,644 371,436
45,346 50,377
5,480 5,015
50,826 55,392
173,567 140,336
161,071 180,177
28,272 23,710
2,243 2,462
6,279 —
371,432 346,685
422,258 402,077
810,902 773,513
189,103 192,468
439,470 426,828

CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
Vice-President
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As at 31 March 2008

22/ Tt
2008 2007
i3 FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
RBEE Non-current assets
WEARIRE Investments in subsidiaries 19 34,038 34,038
FE U B BB A R ZRIA Amounts due from subsidiaries 38 296,631 292,423
330,669 326,461
REEE Current assets
TERRIE - RE R EMELK Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
TIH 25 174 192
BEEE Tax recoverable 55 _
Re RFEEY Cash and cash equivalents 26 32 52
261 244
BEE Total assets 330,930 326,705
fEm Equity
AREREFEEABERAR Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders
s of the Company
A& A Share capital 32 30,423 27,814
bt Reserves 35 300,087 298,496
RS Total equity 330,510 326,310
REBAE Current liabilities
FEAST s FR e oA FE S 5R I8 Accruals and other payables 29 420 354
FES TR Taxation payable - 41
e s Total liabilities 420 395
HEZNEE Total equity and liabilities 330,930 326,705
REEEFE Net current liabilities (159) (151)
EEFHE Net assets 330,510 326,310
2|82 PR B % LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
AaE Bl President Vice-President
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

Kt et
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations
36(a)
Interest paid
Interest received
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Mainland China enterprise income tax paid
Canadian income tax (paid)/refunded

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating
activities

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights 36(b)
Disposal of subsidiaries 36(d)
Purchase of leasehold land and land use rights
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets
Acquisition of subsidiaries 36(c)

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue costs
Purchase of own shares
New bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Payment of capital element of finance lease
obligations
Dividends paid

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April

Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

For the year ended 31 March 2008

—22\ 2Tt
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
31,974 (27,096)
(9,985) (8,313)
1,526 1,233
(1,402) (691)
(3,049) (1,774)
(1,408) 341
17,656 (36,300)
(35,538) (34,820)
630 533
(17,492) =
(544) (180)
- (247)
- (360)
(52,944) (35,074)
11,764 3,800
= (6)
(114) (782)
536,078 440,750
(493,900) (355,882)
(2,528) (8,194)
(7,595) (3,681)
43,705 81,005
8,417 9,631
93,432 83,540
1,539 261
103,388 93,432




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Ra é BEx
BE—ETNF=FA=1—

R-ZEZLtFMA—H

SNSRI 2 5

BRI E R
BEKR(ER)

FEBAZBARZ
R

BRI T RIRREE
MmE&EITAR D

f& Bl AR 17

S A A

[d5)

HIEFE

At 1 April 2007

Currency translation differences

Profit for the year

Gain/(loss) on revaluation of
available-for-sale financial
assets

Total recognised income and
expenses for the year

Issue of shares upon exercise
of warrants

Purchase of own shares

Disposal of subsidiaries

Dividends

RZZZENF=ZA=+—H At 31 March 2008

NEEREE ARG

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2008

[\ & DY R R fERiaE
Share 1% W Minority Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
TFrETT FHET TFrETT TFrETT T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Hia£32) (H17#35)
(Note 32) (Note 35)
27,814 342,435 370,249 1,187 371,436
— 7,186 7,186 912 8,098
— 6,891 6,891 693 7,584
— 19 19 (80) (61)
— 14,096 14,096 1,525 15,621
27,814 356,531 384,345 2,712 387,057
2,627 9,137 11,764 - 11,764
(18) (96) (114) — (114)
— (637) (637) (1,831) (2,468)
— (7,595) (7,595) — (7,595)
2,609 809 3,418 (1,831) 1,587
30,423 357,340 387,763 881 388,644
41 ENMEEZERER A A
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(S

P_EENF=HA=1—HIFE For the year ended 31 March 2008

AR EBFE ARG
Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

;&S DY RER bt ]
Share & e Minority Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
TFrET T FHET TFrETT TFrET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(K1:#32) (K15£35)
(Note 32) (Note 35)
KRBT NFENA—H At 1 April 2006 27,218 330,953 358,171 1,246 359,417
SN AR R Currency translation differences — 707 707 — 707
F 2 A Profit for the year — 10,994 10,994 (1,677) 9,317
SEAHEENE Gain on revaluation of available-

BEWE for-sale financial assets - 1,046 1,046 = 1,046

FEERA ZWA K Total recognised income and
bl expenses for the year — 12,747 12,747 (1,677) 11,070
27,218 343,700 370,918 (431) 370,487

BRRTERIRER Issue of shares upon exercise
mEETTRR S of warrants 760 3,040 3,800 — 3,800
BEATIRD A Share issue costs — (6) (6) _ (6)
8% [O] i {0 Purchase of own shares (164) (618) (782) — (782)
W BB B A R Acquisition of subsidiaries - - - 1,618 1,618
35} Dividends - (3,681) (3,681) — (3,681)
596 (1,265) (669) 1,618 949
R-ZBEZLF=H=+—H At 31 March 2007 27,814 342,435 370,249 1,187 371,436

EMEEZEERER

Daiwa Associate Holdings lelted
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31 March 2008

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (“the Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted
company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April
1994.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally
engaged in the design, development, manufacturing and distribution
of electronic components, contract electronic manufacturing services
and consumer electronics, and the manufacturing and distribution of
personal computer and digital products. The Group operates mainly in
Hong Kong, Mainland China, Canada and Japan.

These financial statements are presented in thousands of Hong Kong
dollars (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Company’s Board of Directors on 30 July 2008.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

(a) Basic of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”). The consolidated financial statements are prepared
under the historical cost convention except that certain financial
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) are measured at fair value, as appropriate.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

43 ENEEERARAA
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basic of preparation (continued)

The following standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations are mandatory for financial year ended 31 March

2008.

HKAS 1
(Amendment)

HKFRS 7

HK(IFRIC)-Int 7

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11

Presentation of Financial Statements:
Capital Disclosures

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Applying the Restatement Approach
under HKAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies

Scope of HKFRS 2

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

Interim Financial Reporting and
Impairment

HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share
Transactions

The adoption of the above standards, amendments to standards
and interpretations did not have any significant financial impact

to the Group.

The following new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not effective and
have not been early adopted. The Group anticipates that the
adoption of these standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations would not result in a significant impact on the
results and financial position of the Group.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basic of preparation (continued)

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 23
(Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(IFRIC)-Int 12

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Presentation of Financial Statements
(effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009)

Borrowing Costs (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009)

Operating Segments (effective for
annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009)

Service Concession Arrangements
(effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2008)

Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective
for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2008)

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding
Requirements and their Interaction
(effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2008)

45 afRmEmEEREAERQA
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basic of preparation (continued)

In addition, the following amendments to standards have also
been issued but are not effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

HKAS 27 (Revised)  Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements (effective from annual
period beginning on or after 1 July

2009)

HKAS 32 and Puttable Financial Instruments and
HKAS 1 Obligations arising on Liquidation
(Amendments) (effective from 1 January 2009)

HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment — Vesting
(Amendment) Condition and Cancellations (effective

from 1 January 2009)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)  Business Combinations (effective from
1 July 2009)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these changes. The expected impact is still being
assessed in detail by management.



B 75 R 3R B °E

Notes to the Financial Statements

—EENF=HA=1—H

2. EESTHHBEMEME»

(b) RERE
GAMBREEEARTARE 2B
ARBE=ZA=+—BIEZ2HBRE -

BB A A

MEBRRDIEAEEAEEE
HEUBREEBRRZMAER
(BREFHIENZER) — &R
RIAAEEERZE BB
tREE - EEAEERD
EH S -ERE - BRIA(TE
AR BERER IR
FTEHTEE - WEBRARZ
REERNEERTASEZ
BREE2EALASFA - X AZE
HHER IEZ BiF IR AR AR
B -

AN £ B A B BB 1 R DA R A
BEEAR o WK AR
TEE FIBTRATERM
EEREREABERRBRBBAZ
AT(E - SiEz EEEN
BRAGTE - REBEHIEZ
AHAEEAREEZERR
HARBE - M REM DB
Rigm 2 88 I REER
2z AFEFE - WEKAR
AN B R (G FTER S AT A BB
EFEAFEZEZEIAERS
P8 o WUREE A A DR FT R
WEBRAREEFEZAFME:
AlEEZEEERGEBER
R o

SEARBIBMZRZNAREHE
NAREZR 5 MELERR
REH U ERT T A o MW
BREFMEREENTRBE
Sh - REREBIET S HH - K
BRARZEFABERCIEMTE
B - DATE (R BK £R (8] P ER A IR
B2

31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up
to 31 March.

()

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including special purpose
entities, over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The
cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transactions provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(b)

()

(ii)

(iii)

Consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions
relating to equity interests in the subsidiaries with
minority interests as transactions with parties external
to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in
gains and losses for the Group that are recorded in the
consolidated income statement. Purchases from minority
interests result in goodwill, being the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group
generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights.
company is accounted for using the equity method

has significant influence but not control,

Investment in an associated

of accounting and is initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s investment in an associated company includes
goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associated company’s post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associated company equals or exceeds its interest in
the associated company, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associated company.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Consolidation (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Associated companies (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associated company are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interests in the associated company.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associated
company have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Jointly controlled entity

A jointly controlled entity is an entity established under a
contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity which is subject
to a joint control and none of the participating parties
has unilateral control over the economic activity.

investment
in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for by the
equity method of accounting and is initially recognised
at cost. The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits
or losses of the jointly controlled entity is recognised
in the consolidated income statement, and its share of

In the consolidated financial statements,

post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in jointly
controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest in the
jointly controlled entity, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.
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2.

31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Consolidation (continued)
(iv) Jointly controlled entity (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its jointly controlled entity are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled
entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Accounting policies of the jointly
controlled entity have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject to
risks and returns that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing
products or services within a particular economic environment
that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of segments operating in other economic environments.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2. EESTHBEMEME» 2.

(d) SVmE(E) (d)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
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(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) FrEmLEENER = (iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
R SRR E A as a separate component of equity.
KIER °

ERERA R  MEBINEK
BRERE URBREEERHE
I EERZFRELANNE
W T APTELMERZEIIA
RR M - EHHBEIDE

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is

INFETERE 2 EE N E RS partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences
AR EABERALEREBN— that were recorded in equity are recognised in the
BB o consolidated income statement as part of the gain or

WEBIEBEENEHERR
FERAERSZEIERBNE
EMEE FRKTE XK

St
H o
ZAr

loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses
(if any).
rights to use the land on which various plants and buildings

Cost mainly represents consideration paid for the

are situated for a period of 26 to 57 years from the date the
respective right was granted. Amortisation of leasehold land
and land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant leases and land use rights.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment other than construction-
in-progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are expensed in the
income statement during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line or reducing balance methods to allocate
cost of each asset to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:
Buildings straight-line 2%
Plant and machinery reducing balance 15%
Leasehold improvements furniture,

reducing balance 10% to 33%
reducing balance 15% to 33%

reducing balance 15% to 50%

fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
Moulds and tooling

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated on the same
basis as described above.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment
are determined by comparing the net sales proceeds with the
carrying amount of the relevant assets and are recognised in
the income statement.

Construction-in-progress represents factory premises under
construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction, interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these assets
during the period of construction and other direct costs
attributable to the construction. All other borrowing costs
are expensed. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets
are completed and are available for the intended use. When the
assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable
assets and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries at
the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in intangible assets. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose
of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

()

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, an associated
company, a jointly controlled entity and non-financial
assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation, which are at least tested annually for impairment.
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-
generating units”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial Assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every
reporting date.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category consists of financial assets held for
trading and those designated at fair value through profit
or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term or if so designated by management.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if they are
either held for trading or are expected to be realised
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
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(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determined payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
balance sheet date. These are classified as non-current
assets. Loans and receivables include trade and notes
receivables, loans and other receivables.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are
included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of
the balance sheet date.

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
trade-date, that is the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transactions costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried
at amortised cost using effective interest method, less any
provision for impairment.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss category are
presented in the income statement in the period in which they
arise. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

55 eNEmEERAER QA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



LR R

Notes to the Financial Statements

—EENF=HA=1—H

2. EESHBEEME»

MBEEE)

BRERTHHESREEZERLES
(ASMNERT)  ERFEEFHTH/HE
BHEKARBMEIBZELER - R E
MEREERS - ERERFELER
RBZERARK  MIFEBEFFZERL
ZRUEREARKR - BRERAHEE
ERMEECERERFEEEESZA
FEZ RSN R -

EBRAAHEENESEHIRE
B TR RS A FEART
ABRERAERBREEFNEAE

AfHHESREE NS RABIIAR
BREMPAZA - BREEERE R
ZRENDHE AR ERETAZK
SRR RMER

EHREZ R FENRAERTEEMmE
EoMERMEEET S LW NER(K
HELTREFME) - AEBERAR
TEREATE EBREREHZER
FHEBREE RS  HHMBETA
Z22% BRRBSRELMEEEE
B ZERATEL2EH  REE
WA EREREEERE -

AEERBEEERAFNGRE—o@E
EXcHEEASERERAEREZ
EH - ERaESRERTHEESR
BE FBFATVEERELARBERERK
AE - BE—RBRENR - A fHE
ERMEEFEEMUEEENR - B R
BHEOABARARREZ AFEZE
R IRz EELHEERRRE
RZEFRERBIE) R EEABR
NREERBEAR RETAZRBES
B EEHRRRRE - AT ERER
e e

EMEEERER QA 56

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Financial Assets (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in
foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from changes in
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. The translation differences on monetary
securities are recognised in the income statement; translation
differences on non-monetary securities are recognised in
equity. Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in
equity are included in the income statement as gains and losses
from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement
as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the income statement as part
of other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active, the Group
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These
include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, discounted
cash flow analysis and option pricing models, making maximum
use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified
as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an
indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
which is measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised in the income statement, is
removed from equity and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the income statement.
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31 March 2008

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(1)

(k)

(1

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. The method of recognising the
resulting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative
is designated and qualified as a hedging instrument, and if
so, the nature of the item being hedged. Since the derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group do not
qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of any
derivative instruments are recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the assets is reduced
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement within administrative
expenses. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for receivables. Subsequently
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
other gains in the income statement.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are
shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance
sheet.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Financial liabilities (including
trade payables) are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. An equity instrument is any contract that does
not meet the definition of financial liability and evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs, net
of tax, directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is transferred from retained
profits to capital redemption reserve.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. All
borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Group and its
associated company and jointly controlled entity operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
a liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, an associated company
and a jointly controlled entity, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

Employee benefits

(i) Pension obligation

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes. A defined contribution
plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays
contributions on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods.

The contributions are recognised as employment costs
when they are due and, where appropriate, are reduced
by contributions forfeited by those relevant employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions.

(ii) Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to
be settled within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.
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31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Provisions (continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the

expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation

using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of

the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.

The increase in the provision due to passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

Leases (as the lessee)

()

(ii)

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised
at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair
value of the leased assets or the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance charges so
as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance
outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in current and non-current
liabilities, where appropriate. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease periods.
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2.

31 March 2008

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities, net of value-added tax, returns,
rebates and discounts and after elimination of sales within the
Group. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described
below.

(i) Sales of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer, the
customer has accepted the products and collectivity of
the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(ii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

(iii) Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and
cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.
The use of derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk
exposures is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the
board of directors of the Company. The Group would normally
enter into certain forward foreign exchange contracts to manage
its foreign exchange risks. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes.

(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) and Canada with most of
the transactions settled in United States dollars (“US
dollars”), HK$, Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”) and Canadian
dollars (“CAD”).
future commercial transactions or recognised assets or

Foreign exchange risk arises when

liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to US dollars, Canadian dollars
and RMB.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against functional
currency. It mainly includes managing the exposures
arise from sales and purchases made by the relevant
group companies in currencies other than their own
functional currencies. The Group also manages its
foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and
has entered into certain foreign exchange contracts to
manage foreign exchange risks.

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had certain outstanding
forward foreign currency contracts to sell/purchase
US dollars. US dollars recently experienced certain
depreciation which is a major reason for the recognition
of a significant liability in respect of derivative financial
instruments as at year end, details of which have been
disclosed in Note 30.
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3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2008, certain of the Group’s receivables,
cash and bank balances and trade payables were also
denominated in foreign currencies, details of which have
been disclosed in Notes 24, 26, 28 and 38.

At 31 March 2008, if HK dollar had weakened/
strengthened by 5% against other foreign currencies,
with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for
the year would have been approximately HK$0.2 million
higher/low (2007: HK$0.4 million lower/higher), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of foreign currency-denominated receivables, cash and
cash bank balances and trade payables.

As at 31 March 2008, if the exchange rate of HKD/USD
had been 0.05 higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$5.5 million/HK$2.3 million higher/
lower, mainly as a result of the changes in fair value loss
of the derivative financial instruments.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk
because investments held by the Group are classified
on the consolidated balance sheet as available-for-sale
financial assets. As the available-for-sale financial assets
are relatively insignificant to the Group, management
considers that the Group’s volatility against changes in
the price of the available-for-sale financial assets would
not be significant. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented for the price risk.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash at bank, trade and
notes receivables, deposits and other receivables,
derivatives financial instruments and available-for-sale
financial assets included in the consolidated balance
sheet represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.
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3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at bank are
deposited in major financial institutions located in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Canada; all derivatives financial
instruments are also entered into with these financial
institutions, which management believes are of high
credit quality. The Group has a policy to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any financial institution and
management does not expect any losses arising from
non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sale
of products are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. Normally the Group does
not require collaterals from trade debtors.

Management makes periodic collective assessment as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the trade and other debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of trade and
other receivables falls within the recorded allowances
and directors are of the opinion that adequate provision
for uncollectible receivables has been made in these
consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities.
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3. HBEMEREw 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 BMEERER(E) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(d) TEELREE(E) (d) Liquidity risk (continued)
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The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for additions of and upgrades on property, plant and
equipment, settlement of borrowings, payment for
trade and other payables, and payment for operating

X - AEBEBANIERE expenses. The Group mainly finances its working
WITERETRAEARBEEE capital requirements through a combination of internal
BEARMRRHEES - resources and bank borrowings.

AEENBRETEHRERER
RIEHHIREE S FRKARER
B ERESRBECEEY
FMEBRANMGEE  mRE
HERPORBESMTE

TERBINREHBEHEBEARNY
FHENRSBARAEERA
REEBRSANNTEAE
DI e TREBENSHERER
AEERRARAFZENOR
FRHRIAERRASRE -

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
sufficient cash balances and adequate credit facilities
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long
term.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flow based

on the earliest date on which the Group or the Company
can be required to pay.

—FEZRF —EZRE
—FR Between Between
Within 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
£5 Group
—BENF=ZA=+—H At 31 March 2008
IRITEX Borrowings 176,364 31,446 17,146
JEfT & % ARIA Trade payables 161,071 = =
P B A K Eo At FE A< 5RIE Accruals and other payables 28,272 = —
PTESmTA Derivative financial instruments 2,484 3,795 —
—ZEt+F=A=+—H At 31 March 2007
RITER Borrowings 142,566 24,509 28,238
JEf & ZBRIA Trade payables 180,177 — =
FEAST B PR % B Ath FE AT 5RIR Accruals and other payables 23,710 = =
AT Company
—EENF=A=+—H At 31 March 2008
B E A K E D E N RIE Accruals and other payables 420 = =
—EE+F=A=+—H At 31 March 2007
FEASI B A K Eo At FE < 5RIE Accruals and other payables 354 = =
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BEERERE 2

3.1

3.2

B EREE(F)
(e) HEELHERAFEFERE

HRAEBE T EE R LSE
EABRRITER A£H
E’UH&U\&WMIE%;‘KEKQIL
IEMBNEESHNTE
ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁlﬁﬁw.ﬁzes
KB - NEBASRH N XRE
PREEEEREMER AR
BEM E27 R E - RIF B A
REF B EREARNEEHE SR
fﬁ\iﬁéﬂ R B E A R 5
B i R A AR R B T 4 8
fﬁﬂ%ﬂ % o A5 E A A
R AR F1) 2= 42 A 22 R 4 A1) 2%

LA

o o
oS

EA_YYJ\E A=+—8"
W{E SR RS 508 F
Hﬁﬁﬁﬁid BERFTE A
FEEMHBRNE R /i
293,000/ (=% t¢
/1% 318,000 7T) -
zsl&éﬁfé%%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ‘l%%ﬁﬁ

810,/
APELEH

AEERDEREEZRAERRERS
RBEEEY  BUREZRBREERE
& EUEE AR REREMER

R MAEERSDSRAEREEN
Mﬁﬁﬁlﬁ HEMERREAER
RENEEE  ARBROZHAMmMEER
FERE -

EERTSEENSRT AIWITE
TAMAHHERS) Z X FERERS
HRWHSRETIER - NEBFA O
BEENTSREREHERE M
BRENTSREREHNERE - R
BEHEERMSEENSHTAMImS
SMTET &) A FEN A b ERE
E o BHNESHMATFEMBEER
BT 5 E REE o

3.

31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (continued)
(e) Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at bank, details of which
are disclosed in Note 26. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its
bank borrowings, details of which are disclosed in Note
27. Borrowings carry at floating rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carry at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2008, if the interest rates on borrowings
had been 50 basis points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year
would have been HK$293,000 (2007: HK$318,000)
lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating rate borrowings.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial
assets, including cash and cash equivalents, trade and notes
receivables, amount due from an associated company, and
deposits and other receivables, and the Group’s current
financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and other
payables and current borrowings, approximate their fair values
due to their short maturities.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
(such as publicly traded derivatives and available-for-sale
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask
price.
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DR EMLE(E)
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A AREN R - AR REDN
EREBABEESKA -

AEETEERER  URBEQERE
g ASBE RS HBN TRERS
BB MRRREER  BHITHR
REBHEVRITER °
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31 March 2008

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are
used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the
remaining financial instruments. The fair value of forward foreign
exchange contracts is determined with reference to quoted
forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of financial
assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year
are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and make adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or to obtain new bank
borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (include current and
non-current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated
as “equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus
net debt.
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—EENF=F=1—H 31 March 2008
3. HMBEBEEs 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 X2EKREEA) 3.3  Capital risk management (continued)

R=ZBEN\FER_ZETLF=A=+— The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure as at 31

A BELEEAT : March 2008 and 2007:
—ZEEN —FE+
2008 2007
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
wEE(Mt27) Total borrowings (Note 27) 218,913 190,713
B IRENIMEEBY(H:726) Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 26) (103,388) (93,432)
(EUr Net debt 115,525 97,281
BiE Total equity 388,644 371,436
FES=FIN Total capital 504,169 468,717
EARAELE Gearing ratio 23% 21%
RIZBENEERNABEBLERENTE A The increase in the gearing ratio during 2008 was mainly resulted from
EENPREAER LA ERER - ABE the increase in total borrowings during the year for the expansion of the

BRI KT - Group’s operations in the PRC.
R-ZEZNF=A=+—H  £87 As at 31 March 2008, the total banking facilities made available
FRE B %% 4 A282,670,0007% T to the Group amounting to approximately HK$282,670,000 (2007:
(BT +% : 275,450,000 7T) + HK$275,450,000) of which approximately HK$238,802,000 (2007:

H #1238,802,0008 (= 2T £ F : HK$177,329,000) was utilised by the Group.

177,329,000 7)) EMEEEBEFE A o
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31 March 2008

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgement used in preparing financial statements are
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed
below.

(a) Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment, other than construction-in-progress, with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from use of these assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. Management will adjust the depreciation charge
where useful lives or residual values are vary with previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives and
actual residual values may differ from estimated residual values.
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives and
residual values and therefore depreciation expense in the future
periods.

(b) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment (Note 16). Other non-financial assets including
property, plant and equipment and leasehold land and land use
rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to
sell. These calculations require the use of judgements and
estimates.
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31 March 2008

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may
not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the Group’s financial
position and results of operations. If there is a significant
adverse change in the projected performance and resulting
future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an
impairment charge to the income statement.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and variable selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycle. Management reassesses these estimates at each
balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and other receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. This
assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition, and requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Management reassesses
the provision at each balance sheet date.
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31 March 2008

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (continued)

(e)

(f)

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments which are not
traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select an
appropriate valuation method and makes assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the balance
sheet date. The valuation models require the input of subjective
assumptions, including forward foreign exchange rates, risk
free rates and market volatility. Changes in subjective input
assumptions can materiality affect the fair value estimate.

Income taxes and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income
taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of
deferred income tax assets and income tax charges in the
period in which such estimates have been changed.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

£
Group
—Z2EN =R
2008 2007
FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
1,911,025 1,737,449




B 75 R 3R B °E

Notes to the Financial Statements

—EENF=HA=1—H

5. EEBERBER @

(a)

EFEHERN — ZROBEH -

RZZFZENF=A=+—H £BH=
BEZHIBMHEMK : ()ETFLRHRER
(B L=t (NARNEFEEE
EREEREFHEEMER ; (i) EAAE
B R SRS E v B A R A (AL A BB R
HBER) °

31 March 2008

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
(a) Primary reporting format — business segments:

At 31 March 2008, the Group is organised into three main
business segments: (i) Manufacturing and distribution of
electronic components (“Electronic Components”); (ii) Contract
electronic manufacturing service and consumer electronics
(“EMS and Consumer Electronics”); and (iii) Manufacturing and
distribution of personal computers and digital products (“PC
and Digital Products”).

ENETERLERE
RETHEEREE
ERn- 102 EMS and EAEKREEER i 4] &8
Electronic Components ~ Consumer Electronics ~ PC and Digital Products Eliminations Group
-1 O S = |G — | G — - & /L.
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
F&r AT F&r AT F&r A7 FEr AT F&r AT
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
E2E Turnover
HiMHE External sales 800,649 661,475 629,019 675,017 481,357 400,957
PEEHE Inter-segment sales 1,251 2,852 - - - - (1,251) (2.852)
801,900 664,327 629,019 675,017 481,357 400,957 (1,251) (2852) 1,911,025 1737449
A4 Segment results 23,196 18,644 7,641 11,467 7476 5,940 38,313 36,051
AARRA Unallocated income 6,063 1813
AARRY Unallocated expenses (18,363)  (14.223)
BARNA Finance costs (9,985) (8313)
EIERELAER Share of loss of an
associated company (2,519) -
HERAL Income tax expense (5,925) (6011)
REERH Profit for the year 7,584

& @ NABIREZ HERGRAEBRLCRK -
RERE MR A

9,317

Inter-segment sales are accounted for at mutually agreed prices
and eliminated on consolidation.
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(a) FTERERR — XBIBEH (&)

BE Assets

PHEE Segment assets

RAREE Unallocated assets

BEE Total assets

B Liabilities

AHEE Segment liabilities

AAREE Unallocated liabilities

BaE Total liabilities

Hi&w Other information

BAMRY Capital expenditure

TERES Depreciation and amortisation

B Impairment loss of goodwil

ERRE Write-down of inventories

JEl e R ERIEFE A Impairment of trade
receivables

DHEETRBEASEZEE Y
% BB MEE - TR HERE
FE  BUEERSERS RBGRER
KLRNREE °

DHBETEERAREZZHMEER
B MR RIE - ARENERAREES

@A

BEARMRAXBERE MX BHEkR
BRI i(E g TemEnE
THEE AR MAESL 2 M -
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31 March 2008

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(a) Primary reporting format — business segments: (continued)

ANETEEEERE

REFHEERER

Ry EMS and Consumer BAEKREEER &8
Electronic Components Electronics PC and Digital Products Group

—2EN —TTt i)\ T —Z2EN —Et —EIN Tt
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

&7 TET FEr TET FEx AT A% T
HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$'000

364,845 305,772 321,927 344,857 96,044 96,869 782,816 747,498
28,086 26,015

810,902 773,613

98,194 76,337 53,359 87,544 36,939 38,129 188,492 201,010
233,766 201,067

422,258 402,077

5,905 6,462 37,123 42,306 519 85 43,547 48,842
5,348 4,944 12,080 10,674 338 279 17,766 15,897

= = = 156 = = = 156
6,220 3,959 = = = = 6,220 3,959
1,165 1,107 - = 533 162 1,698 1,269

Segment assets consist primarily of goodwill, property, plant
and equipment, leasehold land and land use rights, inventories,
receivables and operating cash, and mainly exclude investments
and certain corporate assets.

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and exclude
items such as taxation, corporate accruals and corporate
borrowings.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to goodwill, property,
plant and equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights, including additions resulting from acquisitions through
purchases of subsidiaries.
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EEBERHER @)

(b) REDHHRE — hESHEH :

REE=EXE D BEBANIEE 2
HE o ATHRRRRSWEHE X
BRI RBEE

B K AP B A RE Hong Kong and
Mainland China

EEM North America

BOM Europe

=P Japan

H A ZE MBI Other Asian countries

ERERBEFUEIRE S

BAMRAXRBEEREEMERE

4N o

31 March 2008

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

(b)

Secondary reporting format — geographical segments:

The Group’s three business segments operate in four main

geographical locations. The following table provides an analysis

of the Group’s turnover, capital expenditure and total assets by
geographical locations.

EEH BAMER mEE

Turnover Capital expenditure Total assets
—EEN —TT+ —ZEEN T+ b0\ —ZTZ+
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
FET FET FET FET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
791,114 550,846 43,027 38,677 745,974 645,805
593,389 649,542 520 81 64,928 69,870
175,313 262,445 - = - =
326,573 230,459 - 10,084 - 57,838
24,636 44157 - — - —
1,911,025 1,737,449 43,547 48,842 810,902 773,513

Turnover is allocated based on the location of customers.

Capital expenditures and total assets are allocated based on the

location of those assets.

6. OTHER INCOME

7]
22
H U 55
e WA Rental income
HAh Others

—2EN —FTt
2008 2007
FHT FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

753 587
25 294
778 881
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7. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Changes in inventories of trading merchandise,
finished goods and work-in-progress

Trading merchandise, raw materials and
consumables used

Auditor’s remuneration

Amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights

Depreciation
— owned property, plant and equipment
— property, plant and equipment held under

finance leases

Employment benefit expenses (including directors’
emoluments) (Note 8)

Impairment loss of goodwill (included in general and
administrative expenses)

Impairment of trade receivables

Write-down of inventories

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, and leasehold land and land use rights

Operating lease rental in respect of land and
buildings

Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative financial
instruments

Net exchange (gains)/losses

Travelling and office expenses

Transportation expenses

Advertising costs

Repair and maintenance expenses

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses
and general and administrative expenses

31 March 2008

—2EN —ET
2008 2007
FET FHETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
8,551 (44,842)
1,614,300 1,470,057
2,380 1,855
649 652
16,267 13,804
850 1,441
166,226 148,828
= 156
1,698 1,269
6,220 3,959
(25) 326
6,972 6,386
2,990 (1,085)
(9,960) 553
21,400 23,432
10,336 10,002
944 985
4,517 3,787
33,001 74,357
1,887,316 1,715,922
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31 March 2008

8. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments,
consisted of:

=ZEEN =TTt
2008 2007
FExT T
HK$°000 HK$’000
Wages, salaries and allowances 145,519 127,644
Bonuses 3,943 4,635
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 2,269 1,358
Welfare and benefits 14,495 15,191
166,226 148,828
9. FINANCE COSTS — NET

=EEN —FZTL
2008 2007
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Interest income from bank deposits 1,526 1,233

Interest expense on bank loans wholly
repayable within five years (9,818) (8,165)
Interest element of finance leases (167) (148)
(9,985) (8,313)
Finance costs — net (8,459) (7,080)

10.

ARBICERRARENE - BBFEH IR
BRERBEMRZNMERBETBELLR
BEBZEAERBEMNR17.56% (ZFF £
F17.5%) 2 HERREER - PRARILEEZE
BZRARBPECERSY  HER25%E
33% (ZT T : 33%) ° MM MEKRKZL K
LEZRABTNRBNEAMEHR - HEE35%

(ZZZT£F :35%) °

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong.
Companies established and operate in Mainland China are subject to
Mainland China enterprise income tax at the rate of 25% to 33% (2007:
33%). Companies established and operate in Canada are subject to

Canadian income tax at the rate of 35% (2007: 35%).
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31 March 2008

10. RIEBIBAZ 2 10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
=Z2EN e
2008 2007
FET FEIT
HK$’°000 HK$’000
B HTIE Current taxation

— BBNEH — Hong Kong profits tax 1,014 2,015
— PR EERER — Mainland China enterprise income tax 2,985 2,252
— MEXAEH — Canadian income tax 1,548 901

BRI E R = E o E 4 R E 0 Deferred taxation relating to the origination and
(Hia£31) reversal of temporary differences (Note 31) 378 843
5,925 6,011

AEBBBRBARMNZAER  BRAAEER
RERREMBEAMMEFEAREMELE R
MR AR L =R ¢

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

—ZEEN Tt
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
B 756 A A Profit before income tax 13,509 15,328
0 FE(GERE R R EE Add: Share of loss of an associated company 2,519 =
16,028 15,328
BIE TR AN ERE Tax calculated at the weighted average domestic
FERZ INETEHATERGTE tax rates applicable to profits in the respective
jurisdiction 3,112 541
BARBZBRAZZE Tax effect of income not subject to tax (4,968) (2,045)
TRz T2 & Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 3,801 5,211
RERZ BIIEEE Tax losses not recognised 3,783 2,548
HAfth Others 197 (244)
RIS Taxation charge 5,925 6,011

RZZTZN\E=A=1+—08 ERNMNEFLS
REE19.4% (ZTZLF : 3.5%) ° FEHER
ARNEENBRAREEB TR GHBEROZEF
e Bk o

aNEEERAERAA 78
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For the year ended 31 March 2008, the weighted average applicable
tax rate was 19.4% (2007: 3.5%). The fluctuation is mainly caused by a
change in the relative profitability of the Group’s operations in different
tax jurisdictions.
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T N\F=H=1+—H 31 March 2008
1. EERERTHRAERHE 11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEMS (a) Directors’ emoluments
RZZEZEN\F=A=+—BAREEE The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
EZMewmT : the year ended 31 March 2008 is set out below:
BARSHH
Contribution
HeREl MisTEAL to retirement
Be Salaries and Discretionary benefit ot
EERE Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
FET TE7T TE7 FE7 FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HITES Executive directors
2EB L. Mr LAU Tak Wan - 2,970 - 135 3,105
BmEAL Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky - 1,201 - 56 1,257
FRELE Mr WAN Chor Fai - 1,365 - 53 1,418
BEfEEsE Mr MAK Hon Kai, Stanly - 1,365 - 63 1,428

BIFHTEE  Independent non-executive directors

SRAEE Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 100 - = = 100
BRELE Mr LIU Ngai Wing 75 - - - 75
REREL Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 - - - 50

225 6,901 - 307 7,433
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N\ F=H=1—H 31 March 2008

11. EERSRITEAEMES » 11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) EEMEL(E) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
R_ET+tF=A=F+—HARAEZE The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for
ZZEemT the year ended 31 March 2007 is set out below:

BRSHR
Contribution
S BT to retirement
e Salaries and Discretionary benefit Fak
iz Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
FAT TET FET FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B1ES Executive directors
2GERE Mr LAU Tak Wan - 3,510 443 162 4115
BE Tt Ms CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky - 1,201 253 56 1,510
FREBLE Mr WAN Chor Fai - 1,300 300 50 1,650
FEERE Mr MAK Hon Kai, Stanly - 1,300 500 60 1,860
BUFHTES  Independent non-executive directors
ERALE Mr Barry John BUTTIFANT 100 - - - 100
BRERE Mr LIU Ngai Wing 75 - - - 75
2EELE Mr CHOI Yuk Fan 50 - - - 50
225 7,311 1,496 328 9,360
BEERAFENERZEEFAME No director waived any emoluments during the year (2007: Nil).
(ZEBEZLF:F) e RAEEHES No emolument was paid to any directors as inducement to join
TERESEMMEM SR AERBLU or as compensation for loss of office during the year (2007: Nil).
ZHE(ZCEELF  ZT) - EE=HE No director has been granted or exercised any share option
RP kTR ERMBRE(CEELF during the year (2007: Nil).
=)o
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KB RRESHE TERESR - BERRAK
Rt cEEREE CEED R

f HABIERESRE -

31 March 2008

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include four (2007: four) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2007: one)
individual are as follows:
=ZEEN =TTt
2008 2007
FET T
HK$°000 HK$’000
Basic salaries and allowances 741 520
Discretionary bonus 83 90
Pension scheme contribution 12 24
836 634
The emoluments fell within the following band:
AE
Number of individual
=Z2EN 22
2008 2007
Nil — HK$1,000,000 1 1

During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and other employees) as
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office (2007:
Nil).

12. PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group has two defined contribution pension schemes, the ORSO

Scheme and the MPF Scheme, for its employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are held separately

from those of the Group under independently administered funds.
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PESFTE )
B8 (8)

ERERARFET  AEERSEE D IZRE
BN AEIZ2AREPZATARR - ES
R IEE A M AR EREEZHR - AEEE
FALERBEREZRZETKE - HE=F
SENF=ZRA=+—HILtFEE  TE&:TET
AEEBN LR FRXREZERNABS B T(=
TELF :580008m) c RZZTENF=A
=+—8 EZiET ZEAREEMZRE
AAERDRERNEBHRKFEZRIEBL A
49,0008 (=TT : 9,000/7T) °

EREBEHIT  AEERZEESFIKES
BRABGRRAFEREESET G 2 ESE)
BOoZAHK - AEEREBE S ZHKB S
FH&R®1,00087T - ERESHR KM T
BB BB AMEFTEA - B RSB
BEBES -

HEl

BRAPBEDEPIRE - SEATEKREREANE
REBRIRGHBIHESR - EZATEIT - KEZE
SEREESSARMAR(REHS  RARE
ADH5% K MEBZEESAERARY
HHK8-10% ° FRIA LGRS - KEIZ BRI
NEBERRES Z BERAYE o EREBRIK
e EHRNESREZMERS -

mEX

AEBEZANEREEREMZEZEHS ' K
TETEHENEERENIN ANEKXEH
KRR ETE(CPP) B AR - X EIRES
REHMBRERRRE 2495% (ZFZTLF -
4.95%) R BEFEHFREMARKSWAR
T % 7 843,000 7 7t (48 55 7 44,900 fn 7t ) (=
T T + 4 : 294,000 T8 & $ 43,7000
JT)) e
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12.

31 March 2008

PENSION SCHEMES (continued)

Hong Kong (continued)

Under the ORSO Scheme, the Group and its employees make monthly
contribution to the scheme of approximately 5% and 5%, respectively,
of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of employees who have
terminated employment are utilised by the Group to reduce its future
contributions. The unvested benefits so utilised under the scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2008 amounted to HK$Nil (2007:
HK$58,000), and the amount of unvested benefits as at 31 March
2008 that are available to reduce the Group’s future contributions was
approximately HK$49,000 (2007: HK$9,000).

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees
makes monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance. Both the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are
subjected to a cap of HK$1,000 per month. The contributions are fully
and immediately vested in the employees.

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees
in Mainland China. The Group’s relevant employees make monthly
contributions to the plans at approximately 5% of the relevant income
(comprising salaries, allowances and bonus), while the Group makes
monthly contributions at approximately 8 to 10% of such relevant
income and has no further obligations for the actual payment of
pensions beyond its contribution. The state-sponsored retirement plans
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

Canada

The Group is required to make monthly contribution to the National
Canada Pension Plan (“CPP”) in respect of its employees in Canada
based on the relevant employees’ salaries, with the exceptions of
certain excluded employment and benefits, at a rate of 4.95% (2007:
4.95%) of the employees’ salaries subject to a maximum annual
pensionable earnings of HK$343,000 (equivalent to CAD44,900) (2007:
HK$294,000 (equivalent to CAD43,700)).
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31 March 2008

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in

the financial statements of the Company to the extent of HK$144,000
(2007: HK$20,269,000).

DIVIDENDS

Note:

(ii)

(i)

Interim, paid, of HK$0.01 (2007: HK$0.01) per share
(note (i)

2007 final, paid, of HK$0.015 per share (note (ii))

Final, proposed, of HK$0.0025 (2007: HK$0.015)
per share (note (iii))

—=2EN I
2008 2007
FET TIET
HK$°000 HK$°000
3,038 2,787
385 =

761 4,172
4,184 6,959

At a meeting held on 12 December 2007, the Company’s directors
declared an interim dividend of HK$0.01 per share, totalling
HK$3,038,000, which was paid on 7 January 2008.

In December 2006, the Company’s directors declared an interim
dividend of HK$0.01 per share. Qualifying shareholders, at their options,
could receive the dividend (i) in cash or (ii) in warrants to subscribe for
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.1 each at HK$0.4 per share on
the basis of one warrant for every seven shares held. In this connection,
the interim dividend was settled by (i) cash of HK$962,000 and (ii)

26,070,000 warrants.

At a meeting held on 27 July 2007, the Company’s directors proposed a
final dividend of HK$0.015 per share for the year ended 31 March 2007.
All qualifying shareholders as of 24 August 2007 will be entitled to these
dividends. During the period from 27 July 2007 and 24 August 2007,
25,666,667 warrants were utilised to subscribe for 25,666,667 shares of
the Company at a subscription price of HK$0.40 to HK$0.50 per share.
Consequently, an additional dividend of HK$385,000 was paid during
the year as part of the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007.

At a meeting held on 30 July 2008, the Company’s directors proposed
a final dividend of HK0.25 cent per share. This proposed dividend is not
reflected as a dividend payable in these financial statements and will be
reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for the year ending 31
March 2009.
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—EENFE=FA=1—H 31 March 2008
15. BREF 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) E= 23 (a) Basic
BRERNZFERBEFEARD ARSI Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
B AEAE 5 FBR AR B BT Em AR AN attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted
FHEHE - average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
22/ Tt
2008 2007

NATRER A NIRRT (F#T)  Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company (HK$'000) 6,891 10,994
LB mmEFEEETHEE(F) Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (“000) 299,149 274,826
BREARBICENMEAR) Basic earnings per share (HK cents
per share) 2.30 4.00
(b) e (b) Diluted
STEERBERNE  DHBERITER Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
Rz hniEFEHEIEL AR - MREFRE weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
HESEE D 2 RITE RS E R assume conversion of all the Company’s outstanding warrants.
¥ o SHE THIRE M AR TT(E R AR B BT B A calculation is done to determine the number of shares that
RIEE 2 BEEDL - BUAERTRE could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
RRAFE(EITRARTRND 2EFTF average annual market share price of the Company’s shares)
BYRE)WE 2D ZEE - EXFrsEt based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached
&7 RMEE TR R ARAIAEEIEITE to outstanding warrants. The number of shares calculated as
MEZIT 2D EE ELLE - above is compared with the number of shares that would have

been issued assuming the exercise of the warrants.

—ZEEN T+
2008 2007
AR FE=RE AEE R Profit attributable to equity holders of the
(F%T) Company (HK$'000) 6,891 10,994
TR INETFERTHE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(F) in issue ("000) 299,149 274,826
R REE AR (TF) Adjustments for warrants (’000) 5,688 769
BUAGTEGREERT 2 MEFHE  Weighted average number of ordinary shares
gHE(F) for diluted earnings per share (°000) 304,837 275,595
FREERF Diluted earnings per share (HK cents per
CEN#8%) share) 2.26 3.99
aNMEmEERERA A 84
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16. GOODWILL

Cost

As at 1 April
Acquisition of subsidiaries

31 March 2008

Exchange differences
Disposal of subsidiaries

As at 31 March

Accumulated impairment losses

As at 1 April

Impairment losses

As at 31 March

Net book amount

EEDRBERE (EEERERD BERZ

AEERSELEBMOR °

REDR 2 D RMREEZ5IT

mex Canada
BA Japan
BRERN S

—ZE2EN —EET+
2008 2007
FET FETL
HK$’000 HK$’000
25,235 24,811
— 239
3,359 185
(239) =
28,355 268285
(156) =

— (156)

(156) (156)
28,199 25,079

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified
according to country/place of operation and business segment.

A segment-level summary of the allocation of goodwill is presented

below.
2N %L
2008 2007

HAEKER EAERR

BTl UBEm B &N giBER
Electronic  PC and Digital g Electronic PC and Digital it
Components Products Total Components Products Total
A TET FET TET TET TET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- 28,199 28,199 = 24,840 24,840
- - - 239 - 239
- 28,199 28,199 239 24,840 25,079

2 A U Bl £ FEAR B A

EEE - EREEAEDNERAEEERRE
E mit/ER R E R FHEMBREENR SR

EEA -

For the purposes of impairment reviews, the recoverable amount of

goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These

calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets

approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews

covering a five-year period.
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16. BE») 16. GOODWILL (continueq)
BEMEFEZEEZ/ENOT The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:
& REE HAE1E
Canada Japan
operations operations
ERE Gross margin 7.7% 9.3%
HRE Growth rate 2.5% 5.0%
Hrif =& Discount rate 7.5% 5.0%
FBENENENEEBEBEAERIALES S The budgeted gross margins were determined by management based
BERRENHEMET - MEANEERARK on past performance and its expectation for market development.
FERTHBATEREAEER - FHERANESE The growth rates used are largely consistent and do not exceed the
BhIR R BB AT - I RS ER TS industry growth forecast. The annual discount rates are before tax
EREBTENERRAR  BEEDEE il and reflect market assessments of the time value and the specific
BRELHE YOt B ENERIERETS risks relating to the relevant segment. Management has considered
5 EEE*W,:. L FEREZHNEMESERTE the above assumptions and valuation and has also taken into account
BB Ire<SHENEREEOERAEAKENS the business expansion plan going forward. Management believes
gﬁ cREEHREREBAMERN EE/REE that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of the above key
BERHE  MEBBEAFERE SR EHZ assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of goodwill to
ZREeRETRAEKEATE - exceed the recoverable amount. Judgment is required to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and the changes to
key assumptions can significantly affect these cash flow projections.
#,gzti B AR E = IE Daiwa Microtech During 2007, impairment losses of HK$156,000 were recognised in
Limited W &8 - HEBEZMBREZIZELED respect of goodwill arising from acquisition of the interests in Daiwa
156, 000,%75 Hﬂ:& 2T ERFEMIEL o Microtech Limited following a decision to close down the relevant
operations.
17. Y% - WBRKE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
£5 Group
&6 fil
RERRE
Leasehold
BE  improvements,
REREE furniture, BARIA EEIR
BT Plant and fixtures and hE Mouldsand  Construction- @it
Buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
AT AT AT AT & AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZEStEMA-A At 1 April 2007
R Cost 75,457 129,857 39,270 6,216 17,325 22,647 290,772
ZEHTE R Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (11,534) (70,704) (20,447) (4,036) (5,898) - (112,619)
REHE Net book amount 63,923 59,153 18,823 2,180 11427 22,647 178,153
efMEEAERAERAQ A 86
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T N\F=H=1+—H 31 March 2008
17. Y% BBEERRE @) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
£®(E) Group (continued)
5 G
RERRE
Leasehold
BE  improvements,
REREE furniture, BERIA ERIR
BF Plant and fixtures and RE Mouldsand  Construction- @it
Buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ZEE\F=f=1-A Year ended 31 March
LEE 2008
BREHE Opening net book amount 63,923 59,153 18,823 2,180 11,427 22,647 178,153
EXER Exchange differences 28 218 152 51 7 - M
e Additions 2,003 11,955 4,454 215 3,508 20,868 43,003
RERBAR Transferred from
construction-in-progress 43,515 - - - - (43,515) -
FRIRER Disposals (208) (5) (151) (155) - - (519)
me Disposal of subsidiaries (864) (6,108) (495) (103) (2,147) - (9,717)
il Depreciation (1,699) (9,589) (2,728) (381) (2,720) = {17.117)
BRREFE Closing net book amount 106,918 55,624 20,055 1,807 10,140 - 194,544
WZZZNE=F=1-H  At31 March 2008
B Cost 119,048 181,321 42,070 6,032 17,583 - 316,954
ZRE R Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (13,030) (75,697) (22,015) (4,225) (7.443) = (122,410)
HEFE Net book amount 106,918 55,624 20,055 1,807 10,140 - 194,544
RZEEXERA-A At 1 April 2006
N Cost 67,687 116,147 35,644 6,177 9,877 7,862 243,394
ZETE R Accumulated depreciation
and impairment (10309) (61,926) (18,288) (3,708) (3,501) = (97732)
REFE Net book amount 57,378 54,221 17,356 2,469 6,376 7,862 145,662
“EEtE=A=1-A Year ended 31 March
LEE 2007
BNREFE Opening net book amount 57,378 54,201 17,356 2,469 6,376 7862 145,662
ERER Exchange differences (20) (52) 2a 2 (30) - 13)
e Additions - 7,597 3,153 187 5,528 22,113 38,578
TRIRER Transferred from
construction-in-progress 7,328 - - - - (7,328) -
e Disposals (232) (14) (88) (280) = = (614)
BARBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary 748 6,278 637 232 1,950 - 9,845
e Depreciation (1,279) (8877) (2,262) (430) (2,397) = (15,245)
BRETE Closing net book amount 63,023 59,153 18,823 2,180 11427 22,647 178,153
RZEEtE=A=1-HA  At31March 2007
N Cost 75,457 129,857 39,270 6,216 17,325 2,647 290,772
ZFTE RN Accumulated depreciation
and impaiment (11,534) (70,704) (20,447) (4,036) (5,898 = (112,619)
FEFE Net book amount 63,928 59,153 18,823 2,180 11,427 22,647 178,153

87 eNEmEERAER QA
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17. Y% > MBERRE

BFREFEITAT

IR ES
10-50 F Z 4

IR BB ASMEE -
10-50 F 2 HH#4)
50 LA EZ A

WEMRXHF7651,0008T(ZEZ L4
7,747,000 7% 7T ) 1E 85 & pK AN 52 AR & 9,466,000
BIL(ZZZ L4 : 7,498,000/8 7T ) £ — R &

TR R ©

RZZZN\F=ZA=+—8  AEERERLY
2 R R B BR R E 4Y A 1,834,390 7
TT(ZZZ L4 : 8,164,000/87T) °

EMEEERER QA 88
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Net book value of the buildings is analysed as follows:

In Hong Kong held on:
Leases of between 10 to 50 years

Outside Hong Kong held on:

Leases of between 10 to 50 years
Leases of over 50 years

finance leases.

31 March 2008

&M

Group
=ZEEN e
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’°000 HK$’000
6,187 6,365
99,647 56,542
1,084 1,016
106,918 63,923

Depreciation expense of HK$7,651,000 (2007: HK$7,747,000) has been
charged in the cost of sales and HK$9,466,000 (2007: HK$7,498,000)
has been included in general and administrative expenses.

At 31 March 2008, the Group had plant and machinery with net book
value of approximately HK$1,834,390 (2007: HK$8,164,000) held under
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18. HETHR T HEHARE

SEMEE TR T ERERRNEERE
MR- BREDFESTOT

31 March 2008

LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments and their net book amounts are
analysed as follows:

=5
Group

—EEN —TT

2008 2007

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

YRR B Opening net book amount 25,376 26,093

EHZER Exchange differences 23 —

NE Additions 544 180

e Amortisation (649) (652)

L& Disposals (86) (245)

HAREBRE B Closing net book amount 25,208 25,376
@D Geographical analysis:
L REE : In Hong Kong held on:

10-50 & 2 F04) Leases of between 10 to 50 years 7,865 8,110

MR EE AN E Outside Hong Kong held on:

10-50 & Z 0 4) Leases of between 10 to 50 years 17,145 17,066

50F LA £ 2 H) Leases of over 50 years 198 200

25,208 25,376

BNKEMNFARECBRERABERR
B—RRITHRER -

Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments has been included in
general and administrative expenses.

19. MBRARKRE 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
AT
Company
=L T 9 —E=i
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
LMD - MRAE Unlisted shares, at cost 44,715 44,715
B - REHFERLER Less: Accumulated impairment losses (10,677) (10,677)
34,038 34,038

89 eNEmEERAER QA
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31 March 2008

19. MERRRE =) 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

ARalz EERBARIERET : Particulars of significant subsidiaries:

ARRL/ R frERERA

Place of TEREHY ERRARRE Percentage
A7 incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully ofequity EEEREH IEER
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held Type of legal entity Principal activities
ERRERE —
Interests held directly —
Daiwa BV Limited RBRAKE AERAES 10,000% 7 100% BRAFAH RERR

British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands US$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
BiEEEE —
Interests held indirectly —
R TERAR ABRLES hE PES 100% AREFAF NI
Chiasso Inc. British Virgin Islands Mainland China US$2 Limited liability company Sub-contract manufacturing
ANEEERAA ABRAES Bk EY 100% ABRAFAA RAER
Daiwa Associate Ltd British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$2 Limited liability company Investment holdings
Elite Century Holdings Ltd RERAES &5 2,500,000% 7 100% BREFAF REBR

British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$2,500,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
BESEERAR & & 10,0007 100% EREEAA RABR
Cosmos Power Holdings Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
MRS TARAT & &t 2B 100% AREFAA HESTHEER
Cypress Distribution Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited liability company Manufacture of consumer

electronics
FRETIEERAA Bk &k 2B 100% BREFRA EETHEER
Cypress Electronics Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited liability company Manufacture of consumer
electronics

AEE(PE)FRAR Bk & 28T 100% BREFRA RRNE
Daiwa Associate (China) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS2 Limited liability company Property holdings

aNEEERAERAA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MEBARRE®

|

Company

REseRE —(2)
Interests held indirectly — (continued)

AHESARAR
Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited

ANETERAH
Daiwa Distribution Limited

ANERERAH
Daiwa Electronic Ltd.

ANTEAERAA

Daiwa Industrial Limited

ANBHERAA

Daiwa Interconnect Ltd.

ANZERRAT
Dalwa Manufacturing Limited

ANEEIRERAR
Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd

ANERARAR

Daiwa Resources Limited

AHERERAR
Daiwa System Limited

BEAVE L]
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

30
Hong Kong

3
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

i
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

19.

TEREHY
Principal place
of operation

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

frshERAt

BRTRARRE Percentage
Issued and fully of equity
paid up share capital  interest held
LER100%ET 100%
Ordinary shares

HK$100
ERZEETRN

3,000,000 (et

(i)
Non-voting deferred

shares

HK$3,000,000

(note (ii)
5,000,000/ 7 100%
HK$5,000,000
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
500087 100%
HK$5,000
1,007 100%
HK$1,000
48T 100%
HKS4
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
50007 100%
HK$5,000
4B 100%
HKS4

EEERER
Type of legal entity

EREELA
Limited liability company

EREEAT
Limited liability company

BREAAT

Limited liability company

EREEAA
Limited liability company

BRALAA

Limited liability company

EREFAA
Limited liability company

EREELA
Limited liability company

EREEAT
Limited liability company

BREAAT

Limited liability company

31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IEEH
Principal activities

ERRITHR
Management and
administrative service

RS
Distribution of electronic
components

REZR

Investment holdings

RARK

Investment holdings

EF B
Distribution of electronic
components

HESTRENRANET
EXEER

Manufacture of electronic
components and
manufacturing services of
electronic products

e

Procurement of materials

REZR

Investment holdings

(Rt
Trading of computer
components

91 afRmEmEEREAERQA
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MBS A RRE @)

A
Company

BikARE —(2)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

AMBS(ER)ERAR
Daiwa Trading (Guangdong) Ltd

SRt ZBERERAR
Daiwa Yuen Kwong Plastic
Manufacturing Ltd

Imtec Components Ltd.

RUNHARAR
Maxiworld Microtech Ltd.

AETRERAA

Unity Electrical Industrial Ltd.

BEAE(RZ) ERARAH

Unity Precision Electrical Ltd

EERESTARAR
Vastpoint Imtec Electronics Lid

IRENEREFRIERAR
Beijing Daiwa Vastpoint Electronics
Technology Ltd.

hEETF(TR)IERA

China Faith Electronics (Heyuam) Ltd.

REETETARAR
Dongguan Cosmos Electronics Ltd.

aNMEmEERERA A 92

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

HRAL /RS

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

3
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

Bk
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

0
Hong Kong
&k

Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

il
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

i
Mainland China

19.

TERENY
Principal place
of operation

&%
Hong Kong

&4
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&5
Hong Kong
&%

Hong Kong

(3
Hong Kong

hE
Mainland China

hEl
Mainland China

hE
Mainland China

frERERAt

ERORARRE Percentage
Issued and fully of equity
paid up share capital interest held
4B 100%
HK$4
4,333,333 5870 70%
HK$4,333,333
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
800,000/&7 100%
HK$800,000
2,000,000 %7 95%
HK$2,000,000
28T 100%
HK$2
100787 100%
HK$100
4500000 AR 100%
Registered capital

RMB500,000
& A1,200,000% 7T 100%
Registered capital

US$1,200,000
AMERARS 100%

2,000,0007
Registered capital

RMB2,000,000

EEEREA
Type of legal entity

BRERRA
Limited liability company

EREMAT

Limited liability company

EREAAT

Limited liability company

BREAAT

Limited liability company

ARARAT

Limited liability company

BREEAT
Limited liability company

EREEAR
Limited liability company

NERERELA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

ERERELA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

HERERRAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IBER
Principal activities

REER
Investment holdings

RERE

Investment holdings

RERR

Investment holdings

SFmEMHE
Distribution of electronic
components

HEREEESER

Manufacture of electric wire

EREAREE
Trading and manufacture of
electric wire

ER 1zt
Distribution of electronic
components

EF At
Distribution of electronic
components

HESTHEER
Manufacture of consumer
electronics

BTERLERE
Contract electronic
manufacture service
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MEBARRE®

|

Company

REseRE —(2)
Interests held indirectly — (continued)

alTEt( 8 ERAR
Daiwa Component (Shanghai) Ltd.

afzEt (RN ERAR
Daiwa Component (Shenzhen) Ltd.

ANET(TR)ERA
Daiwa Electronics (Heyuan) Co. Ltd.

AREAEE(TR)ARAA
Dalwa Yuen Kwong Industrial (Heyuan)
Ltd.

ARIZRE)ETIEARAR
Dalwa (Zhaoging) Electronics Industrial
Limited

ZEEHEERRAR
Dongguan Wafer Semi-Conductor
Co,, Ltd.

AREX(TR)ERAF
Unity Industrial (Heyuan) Ltd.

RERR(RR)BRARAR
Unity Precision (Dongguan) Electrical
Ltd.

BEAVE L]
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

il
Mainland China

Gl
Mainland China

i
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

HE
Mainland China

HE
Mainland China

el
Mainland China

i
Mainland China

19.

TEREHY
Principal place
of operation

hE

Mainland China

HE
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

e
Mainland China

e
Mainland China

]
Mainland China

mE
Mainland China

i
Mainland China

ERARAREE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

AR 200,005
Registered capital
US$200,000

& 2,000,000/57
Registered capital
HK$2,000,000

FHE 7 3,600,000%7
Registered capital
US$3,600,000

iR 1,820,000%T
Registered capital
US$1,820,000

AR 3,384,000% 7
Registered capital
US$3,384,000

HERT1, 712,000
Registered capital
HK$71,712,000

&% 1,550,000 % T
Registered capital
US$1,650,000

AR 1,477,007
Registered capital
HK$1,477,000

frERERAL
Percentage
of equity
interest held

100%

100%

100%

70%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EEERER
Type of legal entity

NEREREAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

IERNREREAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

SERNREREAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

heER%
Sino-foreign equity joint
venture

NERARBAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

NEREREAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

NEREREAR
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

NEzERALA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IEEH
Principal activities

EF Ak
Distribution of electronic
components

RS
Distribution of electronic
components

Al TEEEERBR
PESTHEER

Contract electronic
manufacture service
and manufacture of
consumer electronics

REARIH
Manufacture of plastic
parts

HEETTAME
Manufacture of electronic
components

HESTTAk
Manufacture of electronic
components

REERER

Manufacture of electric wire

BEEN
Manufacture of electric wire

93 afRmEmEEREAERQA
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MBS A RRE @)

A
Company

BikARE —(2)

Interests held indirectly —

EEREET (M ARAA

Vastpoint Imtec Electronics (SZ) Ltd.

ESTANETARAT

Yun Fu Daiwa Electronic Ltd.

EETMPEETARAR
Yun Fu China Faith Limited

Daiwa Distribution (Alberta) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (B.C.) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Nova Scotia) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc.

EMEEERER QA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

HRRL /R
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

HE

Mainland China

il
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

MEAE(RES

Alberta, Ganada

MEAEETRILE
British Columbia, Canada

JIEFN: e
Nova Scotia, Canada

MEAZAKE
Ontario, Canada

19.

TEREHY
Principal place
of operation

E
Mainland China

hE
Mainland China

I

Mainland China

JIEIN

Canada

JIEIN

Canada

JIEIN

Canada

nex
Canada

BRORARRE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

i E42,000,000 87
Registered capital
HK$2,000,000

4500000 AR
Registered capital
RMB500,000

&R 85,0005 T
Registered capital
US$935,000

12017
CANS120

300,000/
CAN$300,000

100M7T
CANS100

700,000117
CANS700,000

frERERA
Percentage
of equity
interest held

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EEERER
Type of legal entity

HEEERALA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

NERERELA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

IE2ERELA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

EREAAT

Limited liability company

ARARAT

Limited liability company

EREEAR
Limited liability company

EREEAT
Limited liability company

31 March 2008

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

IBER
Principal activities

R 1zt
Distribution of electronic
components

ETnafEs
Distribution of electronic
components

HEREHEF AN
Manufacture and trading of
electronic components

HERHHEMERR
ETER

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

BERAHEMERR
EE%E on

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERDHERERR
%%EDD

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERAHERERRET
Em

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods
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31 March 2008

19. MEBARRE® 19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
AL/ R fEREEA
Place of TEREHY BRTRARRE Percentage

G incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully ofequity EEERER TEER

Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held  Type of legal entity Principal activities

BENEREE —

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

Daiwa Holdings Inc. NERZARE JIEYN 223015117 100% AREFAR RARR

Ontario, Canada Canada CAN$223,015 Limited liability company Investment holdings

Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd. NERZARE nex 1107 100% AREFAH AR

Ontario, Canada Canada CANS? Limited liability company Investment holdings
Daiwa Semitron Supplies (Canada) Inc. ~ IEARAES JIEYN 1% 100% AREFAH HERAHERERRET
Ontario, Ganada Canada CANS1 Limited liability company &

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

Westpac Holdings Inc. MEAZARE nex 11T 100% AREFAH EmE

Ontario, Ganada Canada CANS1 Limited liability company Property holdings

Westpac Technology Inc. MERZARE JIEYN 117 100% HREFAA KRR

Ontario, Canada Canada CANS1 Limited liability company Investment holdings

Bt Notes:

(i) ERFIAABZHBART - HARAES (i) The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
ERASEEEEBRAEASERFEEE opinion of the Company’s directors and the Group’s management,
EEZER AR EAREBABHEEZH principally contributed the results or formed a substantial portion of the
BRR - ERBEMHBARICER 5 net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would result
ERB/BBRITE ° in particulars of excessive length.

(ii) ERFREERMDRAREEREBERR (i) The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, are not
HEZEOE  RIETERBRREES A entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
100,000,000,000,000 & 7T ° HK$100,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of ordinary

shares.

(iii) HE_ZZN\FZA=Z+—HLFESH B (iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during

ARHEEFDETIEREEAR -

the year ended 31 March 2008.

95 afmEERAERAQA
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—EENFE=FA=1—H 31 March 2008
20. HEEZEFIEREDR 20. INTEREST IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY
-
Group

=ZZN T
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BREFE Net book amount 1 1
EBZAUTRARBER REE 7 HREHITE The Group has interests in the following jointly controlled entity

B RS which is established and operating in Mainland China:

EEME FEXEK wEE REE B BESE
=258 Nature Principal Ownership Voting Profit/loss
Name of entity activities interest power sharing
EEAMEH TR G RINGE R BUETF T Rt 60% 60% 60%

R ILHEARAT Sino-Foreign 2005FFIA T AR
Daiwa (Southern) Precision cooperative Manufacturing
Industrial Limited joint venture of electronic
enterprise components, and
became inactive
since 2005
21. BENTERS 21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY
£E
Group
—ZEEN —EE L
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
ER7) Beginning of the year - -
NG ) Addition (note) 2,519 —
RS Share of loss (2,519) —
HR End of the year = —

&

mEERARRQA 96
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—EENF=F=1—H 31 March 2008
21. BERTIER® 21. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY
(continued)
SEZHUTRERKY N EEZHENRZ The Group has interests in the following associated company which is a
s limited liability company established and operating in Japan:
RAEERES
ERTRHBREER AoLLEERE
Issued and Percentage
g fully paid of equity FEXXK
Name up capital interest held Principal activity
AMEERA 4 23,400,000 E] 47%  SHE RELERIY\EEE) TR (4 R TR 4
Daiwa Sound Company Limited YEN23,400,000 Trading and manufacturing of speaker elements

and components

HiaF Note

KRBT )N\F-_A—H AEEFEEANSTEKAE On 1 February 2008, the Group’s equity interest in Daiwa Sound Company
HEERIE2% WMEA47% » AL BEREEHHEAL Limited decreased from 52% to 47%. Accordingly, the investment has been
B AA] o reclassified as an associated company to the Group.

97 AN EERER A A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



LR R

Notes to the Financial Statements

—EENF=HA=1—H

22, WHHENKEE

NS R &

LG PNC]

i

EXER

EH(BR)/ BSLRARS
HEHE AR

R=A=+—8

AHBEVHEEERSRE

EHES

— RS — BA
PNl TE L

— BiRES — B8
AT TE R BT

LRSS EE

aNEEERAERAA 98
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31 March 2008

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
£E
Group
=ZEEN —TT+
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
At 1 April 4,340 141
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 3,010
Additions - 247
Exchange differences 695 (104)
Revaluation (deficit)/surplus credited to equity (61) 1,046
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36(d)) (4,655) —
At 31 March 319 4,340
Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:
58
Group

=Z2ZN T
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed securities:

— Equity securities — Japan, denominated in
Japanese Yen - 4,126
— Equity securities — Hong Kong, denominated

in Hong Kong dollars 319 214
319 4,340
Market value of listed securities 319 4,340
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24.
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31 March 2008

FE 23. INVENTORIES
£
Group

—Z=EN e
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
EmEE Trading merchandise 124,048 119,314
R Raw materials 82,495 92,123
ER Work-in-progress 18,205 21,749
BURY SR Finished goods 13,826 23,567
238,574 256,753

EERASABEARBEEGABEREE
B 7R R #91,622,851,00058 jo(— T Z + 4 ¢
1,425,215,000# 7)) ©

B 17 8 8 £6,220,000/8 T(= & F + F :
3,959,000/ 7T) * EEERREBERBEERK
ARAR o

F& 136,771,000 L ( = F L4 : 113,579,000

75 70 ) DA SR 1T 15 A8 MR B 3k 2 HE T BV AR (AT aF
27) e

FEWERRERERRE

e & S AR IR

B ¢ FEMUE RARTAFE R

MR

24.

Trade receivables

Less: provision for impairment

Notes receivable

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in cost of
sales in the consolidated income statement amounted to approximately
HK$1,622,851,000 (2007: HK$1,425,215,000).

Write-down of inventories amounted to HK$6,220,000 (2007:
HK$3,959,000), which have been included in cost of sales in the
consolidated income statement.

Inventories amounting to HK$136,771,000 (2007: HK$113,579,000) were

held under the trust receipts bank loan arrangements (Note 27).

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

%£H

Group
=FEN 2=
2008 2007
FET TFHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
162,349 178,780
(1,973) (1,612)
160,376 177,168
25,213 —
185,589 177,168

99 eNEmEERAER QA
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N\ F=H=1—H 31 March 2008

24, BRRWEXRBEREREZEE» 24. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

et - Note:
(a) U E EBRIEIZA T &M AR ¢ (a) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
&8
Group
2 AN —TT
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT Hong Kong dollars 55,412 52,633
AR Chinese Renminbi 41,429 35,325
i United States dollars 38,400 43,779
mEXT Canadian dollars 27,108 30,296
= Japanese Yen = 16,747
162,349 178,780
FEW A XEERERE AN ERSE - The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.
FEWSHBERYREERHEERE AN There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables
EBEBRZEE - BHTEME - as there are a large number of widely dispersed customers.
REB 2 KEBHIEEATLERERS  RE—KR Majority of the Group’s sales are made on open account, with credit
H=EtXENTK - BERSHEBERD terms generally ranging from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of
T : trade receivables is as follows:
58
Group
—ZZ2N A
2008 2007
FET FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
DRI TR Less than 60 days 107,794 140,295
ANTXRE—EHE—TAX 60 days to 119 days 40,041 30,482
BBRA—a=-tX Over 120 days 14,514 8,003
162,349 178,780

aMEEERAERAXA 100
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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24, FEUWEZERE )

(a)

24,

(%)

RS R RIBIRIAT EMARR - ()

R-_ZENF=ZA=+—H EhEx
% 78 564,339,000/ JL(= & T + F:
61,195,000) #& B 1 Hi{B 30 R B b E K
BYRESERLEEHERERCHENBE LR
F o S8 SRUGRHBRER DT T -

AR N Less than 60 days
AtRE—EH—tThIX 60 days to 119 days
BB—A=tX Over 120 days

TEARIRENERERRANEEES
TERSERMBF AR L XNBEER
HEITRHE - RAEHF I BEILEIER

RZZTZNF=A=+—H EREEERA
2,245,000/ (= T & + F : 3,211,000)
KERE - R=TZTN\F=RA=+—80"
BESEAR1,973,0008 (=TT L F:
1,612,000 7z) © 18 51| E E /Y FE R E 2 2R
BRENERUIMEBERZERHOEFE o ff5tE0
19 FEMR TR AT G AT UR[E] o 1t 55 B MR 0 AR e
(N

BBE—E=-tX

31 March 2008

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

(a)

Over 120 days

(continued)

Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
(continued)

As of 31 March 2008, trade receivables approximately of HK$64,339,000
(2007: HK$61,195,000) were past due but not considered to be impaired
because these mainly relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

55

Group
AN T
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
30,660 46,672
21,410 9,731
12,269 4,792
64,339 61,195

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired
has been assessed by reference to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do not have
significant defaults in the past.

As of 31 March 2008, trade receivables of approximately HK$2,245,000
(2007: HK$3,211,000) were impaired. The amount of the provision
was HK$1,973,000 as of 31 March 2008. (2007: HK$1,612,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers, which are in
unexpected difficult economic situations. It was assessed that a portion
of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The ageing of these
receivables is as follows:

Group
i3 AN =T+
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
2,245 3,211
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31 March 2008

24, BWEREKRE») 24. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)
HiaE () Note:  (continued)
(a) RIS 2BRTALA N EME AR : (&) (a) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
(continued)
FEU S RIE R ER BN ZE T - Movement on the provision for trade receivables are as follows:
%£m
Group
—ZEEZEN —TT
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
mA—H At 1 April 1,612 901
FE U & SEBR TE R (B B Provision of trade receivables 1,698 1,269
FRNFHARERER Receivables written off during the year as
FEU = 25 AR TR M 3 uncollectable (1,337) (599)
TERBR Exchange difference = 41
= f == At 31 March 1,973 1,612
(b) EREE (b) Notes receivable
AREEHA  BREBRZAOBRENREATF The carrying amounts of notes receivable approximate their fair values
B> FTERKERY AL =FHHWFER due to their short maturity. All the notes receivable represent bank
THRADBAARE  MEHRHAB K120 acceptance notes issued by third parties with average maturity of within
X o 120 days and are denominated in RMB.
=+
25. AWFRIE B2 RkEMEWFE 25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
18 RECEIVABLES
£8 ATF]
Group Company
=EEN —EF+ —ZEN T+
2008 2007 2008 2007
F#ET FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
SEUNE ] Prepayments 6,020 6,480 = =
HEZS Rental deposits 659 963 - =
oA e IRGRIR Other receivables (note) 8,668 4,013 174 192
15,347 11,456 174 192
HiaE - Note:
RZZEZENF=A=+—H EfvEKKRIEBEFBIE Included in other receivables as at 31 March 2008 was a loan due from an
—HRBUF=ERRMRZERA KL B BRI independent third party company of HK$3,868,000, which is unsecured and
HK$3,868,000 ° 1R #& B8 37 5 = & 5] 3 jﬁ?ﬁl% interest free. Pursuant to the loan agreement entered into with the third party,
HEFR_ETN\FNLA-T+=HEHEFE  £8 the loan is repayable on 23 September 2008 whereby the Group may at any time
E‘JE%EA IR EREREZE=ENELZ T before that convert the amount into 10% equity interest in the third party. The
[RREzR -  EFERAZERENA TERES B K directors are of the opinion that the fair value of the convertible option at both the
BERHEEMLD - I BFERZAERE B 20 inception date and as at year end is minimal, and expect that the amount to be
Y o fully recoverable upon maturity.
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—EENF=F=1—H 31 March 2008
26. RERASEEY 26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
£H AE]
Group Company
=Z2EN —ETE+ =ZEEN e
2008 2007 2008 2007
FET FETT FET T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
SRITHE R Cash at bank 101,654 93,432 32 52
e R Cash on hand 1,734 — = =
103,388 93,432 32 52
RERESEEMIZATEBE AL : Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:
£H AE]
Group Company
=Z2EN —ETE+ =ZEEN T2
2008 2007 2008 2007
FET FETT FET FHET
HK$’°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’'000
BT Hong Kong dollars 35,719 36,424 32 52
AR Chinese Renminbi 11,817 12,768 - —
=PI United States dollars 47,890 30,070 - —
meEXT Canada dollars 7,774 11,831 - —
= Japanese Yen 100 2,251 - -
At Others 88 88 - —
103,388 93,432 32 52
WITTFERAESEHNE - BESARES RIETHE Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
WA E - EE7RITEBRTHNARE2EGE deposit rates. The Group’s cash and bank balance denominated in
REFER . EE A AREEINE R E RMB are deposited with banks in Mainland China. The conversion
= HIRR R TR INEIRTE ° of these RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the

remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government
of the People’s Republic of China.
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27. B8 27. BORROWINGS
55
Group
=ZEEN —TT+
2008 2007
FET FEIL
HK$’000 HK$’000
BN Non-current
RITER Bank borrowings 68,668 72,132
R IEARHRITERZ Less: current portion of non-current
ANERER 1D bank borrowings (24,391) (24,221)
MEHEAE Finance lease liabilities 1,069 2,466
45,346 50,377
NHR Current
EHRITER Short-term bank borrowings 11,000 =
FEARERIRTTE TR 2 A B ER D Current portion of non-current bank borrowings 24,391 24,221
RITEEER Trust receipts bank loans 136,771 113,579
MEHERRE Finance lease liabilities 1,405 2,536
173,567 140,336
fEE R Total borrowings 218,913 190,713
BEERHAT : The maturity of borrowings is as follows:
=H
Group
=ZEN —ZTE
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
—ER Within 1 year 173,567 140,336
—FEWMEA Between 1 and 2 years 28,846 23,407
—FERFA Between 2 and 5 years 16,500 26,970
218,913 190,713
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—EENF=F=1—H 31 March 2008
27. 1%&(55’) 27. BORROWINGS (continued)

BEERATEBARK The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following

currencies:
£H5
Group

=220\ 22

2008 2007

FExT T

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT Hong Kong dollars 218,486 182,331

HIE Japanese Yen - 8,382

ETT United States dollars 427 —

218,913 190,713

NEERERAEBRRAXR R METY 8= The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and

wmE the weighted average effective interest rates at the balance sheet date

are as follows:

&M
Group
=Z2EN —EFTt
2008 2007
FET FrET
HK$°000 HK$°000
— EEER — at fixed rates - 8,382
— ZEEX — at floating rates 218,913 182,331
218,913 190,713
==EEN —EEL
2008 2007
BT £ HE BT ESTE HIE]
HK$ uUss Yen HK$ Us$ Yen
RITIETEER Trust receipt bank loans 4.84% 3.93% - 511% — —
RITER Bank borrowings 4.66% - - 4.69% — 1.15%
REREaE Finance lease liabilities 2.96% - - 4.99% — —
A EF AEET N R ER A FEMHET - All borrowings are unsecured and the carrying amounts approximate

their fair values.
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N\ F=H=1—H 31 March 2008
27. &) 27. BORROWINGS (continued)
SEZREREEEZoTAT ¢ The Group’s finance lease obligations were analysed as follows:
£m
Group
S22 —zTt
2008 2007
FET FEIL
HK$’000 HK$’000
HEAEEREE Total minimum lease payments
—FQR — Within one year 1,449 2,708
—F—F — In the second year 1,081 1,449
—FE=FEFREF — In the third to fifth years - 1,131
2,530 5,288
B RRME T H Less: Future finance charges (56) (286)
2,474 5,002
MEBREEEZHBEI AT : The present value of finance lease liabilities is analysed as follows:
=Z2ZN T+
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
—F R Within one year 1,405 2,536
F_-F In the second year 1,069 1,358
E=FEFZFERF In the third to fifth years - 1,108
2,474 5,002
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FEAY & R ARTE

RO EEBRLERS @ B —KB=1TX

ERTRK

e &R Z REEDITAT

PRARTR
ANTRE-A—TAK
BE—B_TX

T S BRIFIR A T E¥ARR ¢

28. TRADE PAYABLES

credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days.

31 March 2008

Majority of the suppliers are on open account. Certain suppliers grant

The ageing analysis of trade payables was as follows:

Less than 60 days
60 days to 119 days
Over 120 days

%5

Group
=ZEEN 22
2008 2007
FExT T
HK$°000 HK$’000
141,349 146,646
14,631 26,543
5,091 6,988
161,071 180,177

Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollars
Chinese Renminbi
United States dollars
Canadian dollars
Japanese Yen

£H5

Group
=ZEN —EE+
2008 2007
FET THET
HK$’000 HK$’000
29,026 39,941
12,689 16,578
85,414 61,756
33,216 34,816
726 27,086
161,071 180,177
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29. FEMERKH At ENRIEA 29. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
58 AT
Group Company
=ZEEN =T+ =ZEEN =TTt
2008 2007 2008 2007
FET FET FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
JEfS & RAEAT Accruals for salaries and bonuses 10,544 10,581 - -
FEUGR Receipts in advance 1,491 1,659 - -
EREEER Accrued operating expenses 8,314 10,918 420 354
FEAT R AN Construction costs payable 7,465 = - —
E Ath FE TR Other payables 458 552 - —
28,272 23,710 420 354
30. {T4E€mIT A 30. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
R-_ZEENE=B=+—8 £@AY* & As at 31 March 2008, the Group had outstanding forward foreign
EHETIHBE ALY - R-_ZEEN\FE=H currency contracts to sell/purchase US dollars. The notional principal
=+ — A ARLE Y B S 58 A399,048,000 amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts
I (Z T4 : 87,126,000 7T) © at 31 March 2008 were approximately HK$399,048,000 (2007:
HK$87,126,000).
31. BEFER 31. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
EE TN A BAEREARIEA Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
SR - B R IEY & B — Bt Br ik rs - B a) legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
Y E AR A EREE SN A B T HE liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
Mo mABEABERE L AR BETE 2K authority. The balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet are,
BB - after appropriate offsetting, as follows:
%m
Group
—EEN\F —TTLF
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEEFHIBEE - Deferred income tax assets, to be recovered after
+ZEABYKE more than 12 months 1,386 701
BEXEFHIBAE - Deferred income tax liabilities, to be settled after
RT=ER®%EE more than 12 months (5,480) (5,015)
BELEHIBAGEFE Net deferred income tax liabilities (4,094) (4,314)
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ELEFRBB )

BEEBIAZB T

31.

31 March 2008

DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

The movement on deferred income tax account is as follow:

REA—H
FERIER (et 10)
B & B (452 36(0)

M=A=+—8

At 1 April
Charged to the income statement (Note 70)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36(d))

At 31 March

£E

Group
=ZEEN 22
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
(4,314) (3,471)
(378) (843)
598 —
(4,094) (4,314)

FREEHREERAE S (ERF — B
[ 2 AEER IR IHRT) A0 T

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offsetting of
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as follows:

s

EEHEEE Deferred tax assets Tax losses
=Z2EN —FFT
2008 2007
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
REA—B At 1 April 1,150 1,619
B Rt A () Credited/(charged) to the income statement 391 (469)
W=A=+—H At 31 March 1,541 1,150

IEFIEFTE
EEFIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities Accelerated tax depreciation
=220\ =TT+
2008 2007
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
REA—H At 1 April 5,464 5,090
ez AR Charged to the income statement 769 374
o S B BB A B (M a2 36(a)) Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36(d)) (598) —
R=A=+—H At 31 March 5,635 5,464

EIETRIA A BE Ty EE 7 15 2R 1] B 45 FE sR Bt o A1)
SBIHMNEBHENSAR  RUAEHIEERE
{ERERR o ZN S [0 4% 5t R 51 B 18 49 53,798,000
B (ZEZT -+ F 1 38,452,000/ 7T ) #E R IE
ERIEE E# 12,293,000 TL(Z T L4 :
8,510,000 7 75 ) + It 55 4 T8 548 A #K 35 1% SR &Y
ERB RN R_TEZENF=A=+—H" &
ST A& B 4933,196,000/8 7T * R T ——
E-T—RFHBEER Mk T 20,602,000 %
7T Bl ] 428 PR HA 4 68 8 2R 2 FE AR B A1 ©

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
the future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$12,293,000 (2007:
HK$8,510,000) in respect of accumulated losses amounting to
approximately HK$53,798,000 (2007: HK$38,452,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. As at 31 March 2008,
accumulated tax loss amounting to approximately HK$33,196,000 is
expiring in 2011 to 2015, while the remaining balance of approximately
HK$20,602,000 can be carried forward indefinitely to offset against
future taxable income.
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32. BRAE — FXAnFH 32. SHARE CAPITAL
=Z=EN =
2008 2007
RHEE HE v ¢E HE
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
FiR FET Fhg FAET
‘000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
JRTE Authorised —
LR FAREE0.1087T Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
BEITRAR Issued and fully paid-
TR SR EEO0.1087T Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
REA—H At 1 April 278,140 27,814 272,175 27,218
FR P TIE SR AR A IE 1 3217 Issue of shares upon exercise of
B (B 52 (1) warrants (i) 26,274 2,627 7,605 760
B [ A& 19 (M7 £ (1) Purchase of own shares (ii) (184) (18) (1,640) (164)
W=A=+—H At 31 March 304,230 30,423 278,140 27,814
Bt - Notes:
0] RBE-_TZNEF=A=1+—8HL1LHF (i) During the year ended 31 March 2008, 26,274,436 (2007: 7,605,766)
£+ 26,274,4360% R IR # (= T T £ warrants were utilised to subscribe for 26,274,436 (2007: 7,605,766)
& :7,605,766) B & T E - H Al R shares at a subscription price of HK$0.40 to HK$0.50 per share (Note

1826,274,436 % & (= T =
7,605,766) * REEAEIR0.4087TE0.50
SIC(H15E34) °

(ii) RBE-_ZTNEF=A=+—HItFEE" (i)
‘A & B B 184,000 kA (=T T £ F -
1,640,000) *© £ 491142608 T(Z T T
4 782,000 7T) ° BLRHDEAEEBUH ©

R 5 EHE Date of repurchase
—TTt5¥HA May 2007
ZTETLEEN June 2007
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34).

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Company repurchased
184,000 shares (2007: 1,640,000) for HK$114,260 (2007: HK$782,000).
These shares were subsequently cancelled.

AR S =] SRBRMOERE
Number of Price per share
shares S B AR E S EEE
repurchased Lowest Highest
FhAg BT BT
‘000 HK$ HK$
150 0.596 0.640
34 0.590 0.640
184
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EEEKRE

ARBREUE B B S AR RAEE
ZEE(BEARRZHTES)RHBREN
BREARRZED  ERZUARRERE
BIORAEE(T2ERTEREREMETZR
0)30% BB - ZBRETEESHARE Z
Examt NOARARORBRERTA
ZHTE: (NEERTEREANAARXSA
RRAEAD 2 PR E © (i) AR R 2
EESR010BT ZEFARSERE

HE-_ZT/N\F=F=1+—0  AAAHRER
LERE(ZZESLF :T)  RZTETNF=
A=+—8 AR aETEERECSS L
V-
1

=a
L
—~

CB) RZTENF=ZRA=+—RH REX
BZBERE(CERLF  F) -

BRF¥EH
Date of grant

fTRER R
Exercise period
“ETRF-A=-THA —ETRE-_A-1+HAEZE
“EZ\FZA=TWMA
25 February 2005

2008

“ERRHE-AZ1=H “ERHE-AZT=HE
“T-—_4%-A-tZH

23 January 2007 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2012

RFE 26,274,436 R RBIEL(ZT T LF ¢
7,605,766) B 1T £ © LA 3R B8 26,274,436 i% A
AZBRH(ZEZLF :7,605,766) + BRE
#911,764,000 7% 7L (ZZZ 4 : 3,800,000 %5
JL) °

33.

34.

25 February 2005 to 24 February

31 March 2008

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has an employee share option scheme, under which
it may grant options to employees (including executive directors of
the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any shares
issued upon exercise of employee share options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s board of directors and shall at
least be the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares
of HK$0.10 each.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 March 2008
(2007: Nil). No share options were exercise during the year ended 31
March 2008 (2007: Nil). No share options were outstanding as at 31
March 2008 (2007: Nil).

WARRANTS
BETEHE

REE B4 Utilised HEANHE R
Subscription Beginning of during Lapsed during End of
price the year the year the year the year
HK$0.50 13,238,938 (12,545,525) (693,413) —
HK$0.40 26,042,000 (18,728,911) — 12,313,089
39,280,938 (26,274,436) (693,413) 12,313,089

During the year, a total of 26,274,436 (2007: 7,605,766) warrants were
utilised to subscribe for 26,274,436 (2007: 7,605,766) shares in the
Company at an aggregate consideration of HK$11,764,000 (2007:
HK$3,800,000).
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N\ F=H=1—H 31 March 2008
35. f#fE 35. RESERVES
(a) £ (a) Group
HHE
HBEE
EfbR%
Available-
v Zit for-sale
BEBEH EBRE financial
RfaE AR (ii) Share  Cumulative  EEHH(iii) assets REE7
Share Capital  redemption  translation Statutory  revaluation Retained @
premium reserve (ii) reserve  adjustments reserve (iii) reserve profits Total

TET TAT TAT T T FAT FiET TAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZSCEMA-F  As 1 April 2007 206,080 41,201 1,080 2,684 90 1,046 90,284 342,435
RER T Profit for the year - = = = - - 6,891 6,891
bk Translation adjustments - = = 7186 - - . 7186
BRTERRER Issue of shares upon
kG0 exercise of varrants 9,137 - = = - - - 9137
BERH Purchase of own shares (98) - 114 - - - (114) (96)
ARHERFEEER  Gain on revaluation of
Eps available-for-sale
financial assets = - - = = 19 = 19
HEHBAR Disposal of subsidiaries - = = (80) - (557) - (637
RE(Hit14) Dividends (Nots 14) = - = - - - (7595) (7.595)
R-BENEF At 31 March 2008
=B=1-H 215,121 41,201 1,164 9,790 90 508 89,466 357,340
AT - Representing:
RIEAHRS Proposed dividend 76
K Others 88,705
89,466
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35. ﬁﬁ(ﬁg’) 35. RESERVES (continued)

(a) £®(&) (a) Group (continued)
AHHE
HHEE
EftfiE
Available-
R it for-sale
BE RS e financial
RARE  EREEI) Share Cumulative (i) assets REER
Share Capital redemption translation  Statutory revaluation Retained L
premium  reserve (ii) reserve adjustments reserve (iii) reserve profits Total
FAT FET FET FET FET FET FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZERE As 1 April 2006
mA—AH 201,838 4,201 268 1,977 90 - 85,579 330,953
RERRT Profit for the year - - - - - - 10,994 10,994
IEBE Translation
adjustments - - - 707 - - - 707
BRNTEAREE  Issue of shares
TR R upon exercise of
warrants 3,040 = = - - - - 3,040
B ETRA Share issue costs (6) - - - = = = (6)
BERH Purchase of own
shares (618) - 782 - - - (782) (618)
AEHEBKEE  Gain on revaluation
EftFHERS of avallable-for-
sale financial
assets = = = = = 1,046 = 1,046
) Dividends
— ke — Cash - - - - - - (3,681) (3,681)
— RREL () — Warrants (i) 1,826 = = - - - (1,826) -
RZZBLE At 31 March 2007
=ZA=t-H 206,080 4,201 1,050 2,684 90 1,046 90,284 342,435
KA - Representing:
BRERHRE Proposed dividend 4172
Hth Others 86,112
90,284
Htat - Note:
(i) D P R R 1B LA SRR B E AR (i) Certain shareholders had elected to receive their dividends in
B o AR BT IS A R EN warrants. Refer to Note 34 for the details of the warrants issued.
847
(i) RNEBZERNEBBARNREITZ (ii) Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between

the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
BHEETRATNKB AR KA and the nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries
BEEMEZEZR MR -_ZEZT transferred to the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation
F=ZA=+—HBBREZERNRASIR in 1994, plus the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share capital
% 7 TE B 1T 2E A 89 &2 #2 51,594,000 as a result of a reduction of the Company’s share capital took

BOEEERER - AN ENFEEHE

ST o place during the year ended 31 March 2000.
(iii) TRAEZHB AR Z ET AR (iii) Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in Mainland China can be used

e FEELAEESUTHARBEAEARZ to offset future losses or increase in capital of the subsidiary.
B8 - K AR EE AR TS I pn Y

BARER -
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31 March 2008

35. RESERVES (continued)

(b) RATF (b) Company
473 B B 2 4
RADRE Share BAZER(I) REZA
Share redemption Contributed Retained “st
premium reserve surplus (i) prqfit_s Tptall
&7 FET o FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZEZFMA—H At 1 April 2007 206,080 1,060 72,309 19,057 298,496
REZRF Profit for the year - — — 144 144
BT Issue of shares upon exercise
of warrants 9,137 — - — 9,137
fAEE ) Purchase of own shares (95) 114 — (114) (95)
Be(Hit 14) Dividends (Note 14) — — - (7,595) (7,595)
R-ZBENE At 31 March 2008
=HA=+—H 215,122 1,164 72,309 11,492 300,087
MR Representing:
BR AR EARR S Proposed dividend 761
HA Others 10,731
11,492
RZZTZTXFEMA—H At 1 April 2006 201,838 268 72,309 5,077 279,492
REZ B Profit for the year - - - 20,269 20,269
BT Issue of shares upon exercise
\ of warrants 3,040 — — — 3,040
MDA TAAR Share issue costs (6) - - - (6)
N 7aN
fARENG Purchase of own shares (618) 782 _ (782) (618)
R (Kt 14) Dividends (Note 14)
— 8% — Cash - - - (3,681) (3,681)
— e _
R REE Warrants 1,826 _ _ (1,826) .
R-BELE At 31 March 2007
=A=+—H 206,080 1,050 72,309 19,057 298,496
MR Representing:
R AR S Proposed dividend 4172
Hith Others 14,885
19,057
HiaE Note:
(i) RARZBABHBBREERR (i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the

—NNEFEEHEEARAETZR
A E{E A AR Daiwa BVI Limited
BERETEBERREMBRAREES
EMEZEZRE MER=_TTZTF
= RA=+—BHMBEEREIRRK
AREE M E £ &8 51,594,000 7%
5.

REBRE-NN—FRFADE " &
ABBRA 2K TR - ER B TR
AERERZMRE - RREBAR
R DK+ 10 () DK & T BE A HRE
BEMZBEBHHEEFERR
BEREBETERARENEE 2R
e

aNEEERAERAA
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difference between the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange for the issued ordinary shares of
Daiwa BVI Limited and the value of net assets of its underlying
subsidiaries pursuant to a group reorganisation in 1994, plus
the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share capital as a result of a
reduction of the Company’s share capital took place during the
year ended 31 March 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed
surplus is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or
(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.



B 75 R 3R B 7

—EENFE=HA=1—H

36.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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mERERER 36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(a) BRBEAEFNESCELEBEZRESRA (a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash
(Fi) FEEAES X inflow/(outflow) from operations
—2EN —TTt
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
B 58 B8 ) Profit before income tax 13,509 15,328
HE — Adjustments for —
FIBUA Interest income (1,526) (1,233)
BRI Interest expense 9,985 8,313
-t R - Hb {50 R AR A 85 Amortisation of leasehold land and land use
rights 649 652
Y - B RRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17,117 15,245
R E AR Impairment loss of goodwill = 156
JEUR & S AR TE A AR Impairment of trade receivables 1,698 1,269
EFRE Write-down of inventories 6,220 3,959
BEYE IR REUKR T (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
T+ b feE P4 (Was) /B 18 equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights (25) 326
ARERZESRMPITAETEAFERE  Unrealised fair value loss/(gain) on derivative
B/ (&) financial instruments 6,279 (344)
53,906 43,671
EEEAEE Changes in working capital:
FE Inventories (15,162) (85,453)
JE U o S R T I B IR R Trade and notes receivables (45,726) 59,328
TEBRTFRIE -~ e REAEIEIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables (9,002) 3,426
P & SERRTE Trade payables 44,271 (93,895)
FERTEE B L i fF AR Payable for purchase of land use rights = (5,121)
FEAT B A I EL At FE A< 5RTE Accruals and other payables 3,687 948
K ZEERA i) F58 Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations 31,974 (27,096)

115 eNEmEERAER QA
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36. REREREXRE)

(b) HEHEERESREBRA G HEWHE  H:H
KRR UK L4t % + b 5 FRERY P18 3K

31 March 2008

36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(continued)

(b) In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment, and

(EC leasehold land and land use rights comprise:
=Z2ZEN —ETt
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREVFE Net book amount 605 859
HEMS  HeEkEENTH KL Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and
+ b (E AREEF (E1E) equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights 25 (326)
HEYZE  HERRHERE LR Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and
T {F FAREFT S R equipment, and leasehold land and land use
rights 630 5383

(c) Y1 % Daiwa Sound Company Limited
(fbscl) :

RZZBTZREFENA AEEWREDSC
BAZA+T % - DSC #HEWIERE
B E T RITR I E D RBESER o
RZZEERNFLtA—HE-ZZZTLF
ZA=+—HB ZUBEBAREET
171,579,000 7% Jt 48 &= 25,214,000
ETEREE - MREUNBR_-_ZTZ
ANEMA—B%4 £BEKEHE
1,798,086,000 7% 7t i 2 AL AT 2 &5 18
15 458,559,000 8 7T ° B S FERE
SEEEHBRAEREARKEBE R RN
EEURMBRREHBEEN L TER
BAZZTTAFNA—ARCLEAM
FEEHBREVAER T E R - ERAM
EENTETE -

aEMEEERAERAXA 116
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(c) Acquisition of Daiwa Sound Company Limited (“DSC”)

In June 2006, the Group acquired 52% interest in DSC, a
company engages in the trading and manufacturing of speaker
elements and components. The acquired business contributed
revenues of HK$171,579,000 and net loss of HK$5,214,000
to the Group for the period from 1 July 2006 to 31 March
2007. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2006, Group
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2007 would have been
HK$1,798,086,000; profit before allocation would have been
HK$8,559,000. These amounts have been calculated using the
Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the
subsidiary to reflect the relevant depreciation and amortisation
that would have been charged assuming the fair value
adjustments on the relevant assets had applied from 1 April
2006, together with the consequential tax effects.
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36. mEBRERER®E) 36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(continued)
(c) I % Daiwa Sound Company Limited (c) Acquisition of Daiwa Sound Company Limited (“DSC”)
('bscl) : (&) (continued)

Wi EEFEREEFBOT

Details of the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

FAET
HK$’000
WHEA EE - Net assets acquired:
Y% - s R RE Property, plant and equipment 9,845
A SR EE Available-for-sale financial assets 3,010
TE Inventories 23,216
PN = ZE BRI Trade receivables 50,229
A fEGRIE Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 2,580
ReRBESEED Cash and cash equivalents 1,632
(=N Borrowings (12,470)
FEfT & SRR IE Trade payables (70,680)
FE A~ 2 PR 2 EL Ath FE A< RKIB Accruals and other payables (3,991)
DERR R R Minority interests (1,618)
1,753
EE Goodwill 239
HBERERKEEZER Purchase consideration and cost of acquisition 1,992
SRAR Satisfied by:
Be Cash 1,992
Ui BB DSC EE Z M F58 Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the
DT acquisition of DSC:
FAET
HK$’000
RERE Cash consideration 1,992
B BAZRERESEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired (1,632)
WENBAREAZ RS RHEFE Net cash outflow in respect of the purchase of subsidiary 360

"7 eNEmEERAER QA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



LR R

Notes to the Financial Statements

—EENF=HA=1—H

36. MEBREREXRSE)

(d)

(e)

HEDSC 5% Mgz

RN_ZENF-_A—B £BHE%
DSCHI#EZ T 5 =5  DSCE M
K ASBREE AT - DSCREEHH
BEFENOT :

HEEE :

Wk - RN
A B A

i3ty

R IR R R R B A
BeRALEEY

e

R R R AR B B
EIEFT A B

IRGE

e

&= s
B RS N RI MRS (Mt 21)

BRME

FHAR
Ré
% DSCE L 2 B2 MM B BHHT

fﬁ/i\ﬁfﬁ
THEZRERBRSEED

HEMBARELEZ RSN IFER

FRERS

R-EZNF=A=1+—H1-5H - %
EHMEBEDE  KERZEAT
(=TT L4 : 3,758,000/87T) °

PANNE S
S

mEEKRABERXA 118
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31 March 2008

36. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(continued)

(d) Disposal of 5% interest in DSC

On 1 February 2008, the Group disposal of 5% interest in DSC
to an independent third party. Consequently, DSC becomes an

associated company of the Group. The net assets of DSC at the

date of disposal were as follows:

Net assets disposed:

Property, plant and equipment
Available-for-sale financial assets
Inventories

Trade receivables and other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowings

Trade payables and other current liabilities
Deferred income tax

Minority interests

Goodwill

Gain on disposal
Less: Interest retained as an associated
company (Note 21)

Total consideration

Satisfied by:
Cash

Analysis of the net cash outflow in respect of the disposal

of 5% interest in DSC:
Cash consideration

Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed

Net cash outflow in respect of the disposal of 5% interest

in DSC

(e) Non-cash transaction:

FET
HK$’000

(2,519)

192

192

192

(17,684)

(17,492)

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group financed
acquisitions of certain property, plant and equipment by new

finance leases of Nil (2007: HK$3,758,000).
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37. &I 37.
(a) BRI

REEBERXRRA  AEEETIXEE

31 March 2008

COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

The Group had the following capital commitments not provided

AESERGHRERE for at the balance sheet date:
Group
—EEN Tt
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRIAERHEEE — BEWE ©  Contracted but not provided for —

W28 R & purchase of property, plant and equipment - 13,804

(b) SERARRE

(b) Operating lease commitments

RZZEZNF=A= + B SRt At 31 March 2008, the future aggregate minimum lease
MEFTARE S EROHE  EE payments in respect of land and buildings under non-cancellable
2 EERAAERESNET ¢ operating leases were as follows:
£F
Group
22N —TTt
2008 2007
FET FEr
HK$°000 HK$’000
F—FNRA Not later than one year 6,095 5,911
EF_EFEERFA Later than one year and not later than five
years 5,899 8,245
11,994 14,156
TRERME  SEEERLY KA Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms of one to
FEFLEF o four years.

R-BEELER-_ZTENF=R=+—
REIPRBERNZHELE -

The Company did not have any significant commitment at 31
March 2007 and 2008.

M9 S NMEEEREAER-RZA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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38. FREALRS 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

RZZFZ/NF=H=+—H " Leading Trade
Limited » China Capital Holdings Investment
Limited & Cyber Concept Limited % Bl & 2
A720.02% (ZZFZEF : 22.63%) * 24.47%
(ZZ T L F:25.96%) R4.06%(ZF T+
F:3.06%) 8% - EAEARAHARNERE
1538 55 4 R IR iR i 121

IAEESETETRAB ZEMKEHEE
PN B RN EREE R T OHBEMEERE
BEATEXRZIIRNIER - AAEEMZ
FREKBOEAFE - AZHTBRAEENE
BEAL - BEAEALTAIAREARES -

BRIRE MBS HREREMID RN EATER
Gh  REBRBEATRBEEBTIZHNE
RABEATRGURBEATRZELENE S
BEafiaA R -

(a) BEBEALIZRS

As at 31 March 2008, Leading Trade Limited, China Capital Holdings
Investment Limited and Cyber Concept Limited owned 20.02% (2007:
22.63%), 24.47% (2007: 25.96%) and 4.06% (2007: 3.06%) of the
Company’s shares respectively. These companies are under the control
of the Company’s directors, Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei,
Pinky.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
member of its key management personnel or their close family members
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa,
or where the Group and the parties are subject to common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group
and its related parties and the balances arising form related party
transactions in addition to the related party information shown
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements.

(a) Transactions with related parties:

£m
Group

=ZEN T+

2008 2007

HieE FET FEIT

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

$#E T DSC (B2 /A7)  Sales to DSC (as an associated company) (i) 2,085 —

#DSCHEE Purchases from DSC (as an associated company) (i) (1,439) —
NeEEHRERS% Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc.

361 Alden Inc. (ii) 1,319 1,238

et - Note:

(ii) 361 Alden Inc. B2I15:& 5t £ KR
BERL(ARRES)LARES - &
ERERSHEH XRBEARE -

aNMEmEERAER A 120

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

(i) Transactions with DSC are made based on mutually agreed
terms.

(ii) 361 Alden Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and
Ms Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky, directors of the Company. Operating
lease rental expense is determined at rate mutually agreed
between the parties.
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38. ABEALXRF =) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) HAEREALTRE (b) Balances with related parties:
AFE]
Company
=ZEEN =TTt
2008 2007
Hat FET FrEr
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
JE U B BB A R 5k IE Amounts due from subsidiaries (i) 296,631 292,423
&£H
Group
=ZEEN =TTt
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEIE DSC 2B Amount due from DSC (ii) 17,637 _
Hat - Note:
(i) MEBARERAEER REREAE (i) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, non-
R ESRIRFEE o interesting bearing and are repayable on demand.
(i) FEWDSCRHIRIBEEREEHHE (ii) The amount due from DSC is mainly arisen from the trading
RES - HERTERIERHA K transactions with DSC. Sales are made on open account with
BIOKR RZZEENF=A=+— credit term of 90 days. As at 31 March 2008, all the amounts
B - FIAEUGKEREIZ 120 KA © due from DSC are denominated in US dollars and aged within
120 days.
(c) TEEEAS 2R (c) Key management compensation
e
Group
—ZEEZ2N —EEL
2008 2007
FET FrET
HK$’000 HK$°000
e K&ERY Salaries and allowances 7,867 8,056
TEAT Bonuses 83 1,586
RS — REBRKEE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 319 352
8,269 9,994

121 eNEmEERAER QA
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B AR REET & SHARE OPTION SCHEME

RNATIEREMATES EmBRAN EHE811)%17  The Company has, in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the

B7HETE O MN-ZZTRENATNBETZKRERESEKR  Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), adopted the

g SRR B AT I AR T A - New Share Option Scheme, as approved by the Shareholders of the Company
at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 August 2005.

BB R EZ T A summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out

2 RE

MBS B S E R AR RS EAHAEE
FIEH 2 BB - R AR B AT R K e B B
BZEITURS|IHAEER 2 CXERAFE
BZANER -

ASEAL

RIBEIRAERT BIER - ETHRAREREER
BT BEFRAUEEREHGEERE TERNS
BIRQEAL o

EENTRAR2EAHASEREERRE
KRR PR RMEL 2 BBITMIRE L (T
—H2REARTNARRTMBREER ZE
% o

BRiTzRERHOHBE

(@) 1R R R R B R AN R R 2 (AT EL A B
BEAIERHEHEHEFTRZE
REETEMAETZRSROEE
BRI EHEEARARBTEEEITRAZ
30% °

aEMNEEERAERAA 122
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as below:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and to
attract human resources for the growth of the Group.

2. Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and
the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant an
Option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select.

The basis of eligibility of Participants to the grant of any Options shall
be determined by the directors from time to time on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

3. Maximum number of Shares

(a) The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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BBRES &)

3.

BRITeBREROBAE (E)
(b) R B AR AT B R AN X B 2 AR (] LA

PRt B X 2 2 BUB A (BL UL
= B IR R IR A AT B R AN A
ZAEM R A AR R B 2 (R REVEREZ
BBt BT A BT Z RO A
BHENEFHRENERREREBENE
PetEst 82 HE &I 2 10% ([ —&
FHEIER]) -

ARRR AR IR R R RS LH/ER
—ARETEI LR KRB E R AR RR
BB RERK - R IE RS & A
AR EMEMBRE SR Z2
BRIB AR A 1T (R AT B 1T 2 AR AD AR 8K
NMEBBENZ EREEZ BB BT
0210% : Mt EZ EREF - REH
R AT 8 S AN X ) 2 AR AAT EL At B A
R Z AT BRI 2 B (B ik
SR T R AR AT ) e AN X ) 2 AR A LA P
PRAES B HARTTEE  BREtH - BIEER
EfTRZBEE) B TEFEER -

AR A AR B b AR R fa) AR R 35 B R
ERFRVBRAEG LS THER L E
Bt E LR (ER) £3X(c) A
Pt EIR 2 BB AR AE T AR RIAES K it
RAERTIEE Z AR & -

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3. Maximum number of Shares (continued)

(b)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company)
to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the New Share Option Scheme (the “General Scheme Limit”).

The Company may refresh the General Scheme Limit from
time to time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting and the issue of a circular
in compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the
Company in connection therewith, provided that the total
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company under
the limit as “refreshed” must not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for the purpose
of calculating the limit as “refreshed”, options previously granted
under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company (including those outstanding,
cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance with the New
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company) will not be counted.

The Company may issue a circular in compliance with
Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and seek
separate approval by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting to grant Options beyond the General Scheme
Limit or, if applicable, the limit referred to in (c) above to
Grantees specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought.

123 AN BEEERERARQA
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BT E®) SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

BE2HETABZESROKE

PMER+ A R A - R g 8 R A
REZEMECEREER T R2REZE
RE(BEETE EEHELERTEZBR
HETEMBEHTRABTZIRMNDEHE - T
FSHEBARAZERHEBETRAZ1% ([EA L
BRI - tBEFESTRHBREZ A LHE
(BEZBER) ZERN+ @A RBET XA
SEEBBHEBEA LR ZEERE  BARE L
MR ARRELBRERARAZBRAE
PRI - MZ2EEREBEALAR
BRERE-

RTBAEALERE

(@) REF AR IR LB T AR A
REE  HRTHRABRRARBZEER
BRERE W ES B 2 EABEA LRl L
MR IZER) BABEBIIFERNTE
ETEREMNEASTRBREARA
ZBIFMITESE )L

(b) HEHERFARRZ EERRKBL
FRTEETRRESEZEABEAL
(&l EMRAIZER) 2 BB RRE
HZ EMES - gm R EERRRE
VIHTESRWES B ZEABHEA
ITERTERE  BEERGEREBK
BBt EAABRRREZRE
MIZBERTRBRTRALRHER
HERT B e AN X B 2 (] EL A g A e At
ZEHBRE(REETR  BEHEK
) AR AT 168 2 i P ) JE AT (2 T 32 1T A

TIT 2D
(i) BEHEBEETRMN 201%IA
£ R
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Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company (including
exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each Participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital
of the Company at the time the Option is granted to the participant
(the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the
Individual Limit in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of such further grant, shall be subject to the issue of a circular in
compliance with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and
the shareholders approval in general meeting of the Company with such
Participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to connected persons

(a) Any grant of Options under the New Share Option Scheme
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the Grantee of the Options).

(b) Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme(s) of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of Shares in issue; and
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BRERTE SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

BRTBEATEREZE)
(b) (#)

(ii REIRE LB RE 2 BRI
mEAECRERBTERB
JC 5

Al Lt BT BB 2 SRR E
MARRARBKRRE L —(DBEK - NRABZH
ERBALARBERAE LRERRRERE
o MEEAUEEA LA RERERRE EHEH
REFRBRREF  BUAEZBRABERA L
MER - ERRBRAS LHERH iR
B EHORAREITARR -

Bz =R

EANBRERAMN10BTERRE - MARE
PR I BB AR A B 5T 28 B MU B R AR AEHZ -
BERAD 2 BIRER AT ERA - W AR
RAIZAS10.00B TTIEREMBIREZRE -
AZ BRI SER BB AR AR -

175 5 R

B R B R T % B AE B RE RN B A e AT &1
ZESRmITHE  BEnHARTEREARLDLS
BzmxE—H o

BIFEESTRERMSEERHER THKE
2R BAMERETEZLARAEZ
KRR -

Grant of options to connected persons (continued)
(b) (continued)

(ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million;

such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders
of the Company. The Company must send a circular in compliance
with Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company. All connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution at such general meeting, except that any such connected
person may vote against the relevant resolution at the general meeting
provided that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any
vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of such Options must be
taken on a poll.

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

A consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of the offer of
grant of an Option. An offer for the grant of an Option shall be deemed
to have been accepted when the duplicate letter of the offer is duly
completed, signed and returned to the Company with payment of
HK$10.00 as consideration within 28 days from the date of offer.

Exercise of an Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
New Share Option Scheme at any time during the five-year period
commencing immediately from the date of grant and expiring on the
last day of the five-year period.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer
of grant of Options to a Participant, there are no minimum period for
which an option must be held before it can be exercised.

1256 AN BEEERERARQA
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BRIEESTRERRAZEERBRTER
R - B A2 EERITERAIERER
FER BRI BAEREMNRRER -

R RIEE
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

10.

Performance target

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer of
grant of Options to a Participant, a Participant is not required to achieve
any performance targets before any Options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price for Shares

The Subscription Price under the New Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the directors and notified to a Participant at the
time of the offer of grant, and shall not be lower than the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of
grant, which must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares for the time being.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject
to all the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws for the time being in
force and will rank pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the
date of allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate
in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after the date
of allotment other than any dividend or other distributions previously
declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record
date therefor shall be before the date of allotment.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

11.

12.

13.

Restrictions on the time of grant of options

A grant of Options may not be made after a price sensitive event
has occurred or a price sensitive matter has been the subject of a
decision until such price sensitive information has been published in
the newspapers. In particular, the Board shall not offer the grant of an
Option to any Participant during the period commencing one month
immediately preceding the earlier of (i) the date of the meeting of the
Directors for the approval of the Company’s interim or annual results,
and (ii) the last date on which the Company must publish its interim or
annual results announcement under its listing agreement with the Stock
Exchange and ending on the date of the announcement of the results.

Period of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 5 years commencing on the date on which the New Share Option
Scheme become unconditional, after which no further Options will
be issued, and thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any
unexercised Options granted pursuant thereto and in order to give
effect to the exercise of any such Options or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the New Share Option
Scheme.

The life of the New Share Option Scheme
The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force until 17 August

2010, subject to approval by shareholders to adopt the New Share
Option Scheme at the annual general meeting.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 2008 Annual General Meeting of Daiwa
Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held at Academy Room
[-Il, 1/F., International Grand Stanford Hotel, 70 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong on Thursday, 28 August 2008 at 3:30 p.m., for the

following purposes:

To receive and consider the audited accounts and the Reports of the
Directors and independent auditor for the year ended 31 March 2008;

To declare a final dividend;

To re-elect directors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their

remuneration;

To re-appoint auditors and to authorise the Board of Directors to fix

their remuneration; and

To consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without amendments, by

way of special business, the following Ordinary Resolutions:

(1) “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (c) below, the exercise by the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as
hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company
to allot, issue and deal with additional shares in the
capital of the Company and to make or grant offers,
agreements and options which would or might require
the exercise of such power be and is hereby generally

and unconditionally approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorise the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period
to make or grant offers, agreements and options which
would or might require the exercise of such power after

the end of the Relevant Period;
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the aggregate nominal value of share capital allotted or
agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted
(whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the
directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in
paragraph (a) above, otherwise than pursuant to (i)
a rights issue (as hereinafter defined), or (ii) an issue
of shares upon the exercise of the subscription rights
attaching to any warrants which may be issued by the
Company from time to time, or (iii) an issue of shares
pursuant to the exercise of options granted pursuant
to a share option scheme adopted by the Company
under any option scheme or similar arrangement for the
time being adopted for the grant or issue to employees
(including executive directors) of the Company and/or
any of its subsidiaries of shares or rights to acquire
shares, or (iv) any scrip dividend scheme or similar
arrangement providing for the allotment and issue of
shares in the Company in lieu of the whole or part of
a dividend on shares in the Company in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company, shall not exceed 20
per cent of the aggregate nominal amount of the share
capital of the Company in issue at the date of passing
of this Resolution and the said approval shall be limited

accordingly; and

for the purpose of this resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of

this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the bye-laws of the Company or
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or any

applicable laws to be held; and
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(2) “THAT:

(iii) the revocation or variations of the authority given
under this resolution by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general

meeting.

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares of the Company
or issue of options to subscribe for shares of the
Company open for a period fixed by the directors of the
Company to holders of shares whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on a fixed
record date in proportion to their then holdings of such
shares (subject to such exclusion or other arrangements
as the directors of the Company may deem necessary or
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having
regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws
of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory
body or any stock exchange in, any territory applicable

to the Company).”

subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by the
directors of the Company during the Relevant Period
(as hereinafter defined) of all powers of the Company to
purchase its own shares, subject to and in accordance
with all applicable laws and regulations, the bye-
laws of the Company and/or the requirements of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited or of any other stock
exchange as amended from time to time, be and is

hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares of the Company
to be purchased by the Company pursuant to the
approval in paragraph (a) above during the Relevant
Period shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of passing of this resolution and the

said approval shall be limited accordingly; and
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for the purposes of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this resolution

until whichever is the earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company is
required by the bye-laws of the Company or the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or any other

applicable law to be held; and

(iii) the revocation or variations of the authority given
under this resolution by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company in general

meeting.”

13 AaNEmEERAERZLZA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Notice of Annual General Meeting

@) (8 -

FERAGBENFESEE)REQ
BREBAZRESEBE  BETERQ
RAIEFERBHARRSBENESHEE()
ERAIITE AN R B AT~ BB IR T
RRRRG 2 —BREWBERZEAR
RRBARTZE—RE@EE  EER
BHEAAERERNESHEQRITE
BRIk, 2 #EHmEER 2 RN AFRAHR
ZROEEAE  WZBETFHEAR
RERBBEBARARRAEERE Y

(3) “THAT:

conditional upon the passing of Ordinary Resolutions Nos. (1)
and (2) as set out in item 5 of the notice convening this meeting,
the general mandate granted to the directors of the Company
to exercise the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal
with the shares in the Company pursuant to Ordinary Resolution
No. (1) as set out in item 5 of the notice convening this meeting
be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of an amount
representing the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital
of the Company repurchased by the Company under the

authority granted pursuant to Ordinary Resolution No. (2) as

10% ° set out in item 5 of the notice convening this meeting, providing
that such amount shall not exceed 10 per cent of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue at
the date of this Resolution.”

AEEGHm By order of the Board

DA E Ho Chui Sing

B Company Secretary

B ZTENFELA=FH Hong Kong, 30 July 2008

et - Notes:

1. REEREERRBFAGWREZRRGATZR—M 1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled

FSZMUAKEERGERERE - REAKRBAR/K
REBER - BREZRZERKRZEREEK - DATHR
FHERGLRE -

2. REZEXRREABRFAZERERAOREXMN 2

(WE)  REHRBFABRZBERZZEXMZEIA
REANAKGRTXABERERRBERME ) H
PO+ NS AT E A R R E B D B B RS0 B (AR
PESEBLARRTNBEBEFEFRNER228HEE
EFL2618) T RB

3. RARBR_ZZFZENFNAZTZHEHRA)ZE=F 3.

ZENFNAZTNB(ZHE)(EREREMA) HRE
ERERNBFELTE RETAEERREREZE
% ARDBPX M ERABRREIBEP RS &
BER_ZTNFNA-+—R(EHME) TFOEH
RERRYESFELARIACLUATREFE2RFAN
BR28FREBERL261E) o

BN EERBERAA 132

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy need not
be a member of the Company. Completion and return of a form of proxy will not
preclude a member from attending and voting in person at the meeting.

In order to be valid, a form of proxy together with a power of attorney or other
authority (if any) under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy thereof,
must be deposited at the office of the Company’s branch registrar in Hong
Kong, Abacus Share Registrars Limited, 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for
holding the meeting or adjourned meeting or poll (as the case may be).

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 22 August
2008 to Thursday, 28 August 2008, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares can be registered. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by relevant share certificates
must be lodged with Abacus Share Registrars Limited, 26/F, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:00 p.m.
on Thursday, 21 August 2008.
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